Optimization of Printed Electronics

Shyuan Yang

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Graduate School of Arts and Sciences

COLUMBIA UNIVERSITY

2016

©2016

Shyuan Yang All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

Optimization of Printed Electronics Shyuan Yang

Solution processed circuitries are expected to be the main components to achieve low cost, large area, flexible electronics. However, the commercialization of solution processed flexible electronics face several challenges. The passive component such as capacitors are limited in frequency range and operating voltage. The active component such as transistors suffer from low mobility ultimately leading to limited current-carrying capacity. Just as in traditional silicon technology, the fabrication process and material choices significantly impact the performance of the fabricated devices. My thesis focuses on the optimization of the performance of printed capacitors and transistors through investigation of several aspects of the device structure and fabrication process.

The first part of this work focuses on the optimization of printed nanoparticle/polymer composite capacitors. Thin film metal oxide nanoparticle/polymer composites have enormous potential to achieve printable high-k dielectrics. The combination of high-k ceramic nanoparticle and polymer enables room temperature deposition of high dielectric constant film without the need of high temperature sintering process. The polymer matrix host fills the packing voids left behind by the nanoparticles resulting to higher effective dielectric permittivity as a system and suppresses surface states leading to reduced dielectric loss. Such composite systems have been employed in a number of flexible electronic applications such as the dielectrics in capacitors and thin film transistors. One of the most important properties of thin film capacitors is the breakdown field. In a typical capacitor system, the breakdown process leads to catastrophic failure that destroys the capacitor; however, in a nanoparticle/polymer composite system with self-healing property, the point of breakdown is not well-defined. The breakdown of the dielectric or electrodes in the system limits the leakage observed. It is possible, however, to define a voltage/field tolerance. Field tolerance is defined as the highest practical field at which the device stays operational with low failure rate by qualifying the devices with defined leakage current density. In my work, the optimization of the field tolerance of $(Ba,Sr)TiO_3(BST)/parylene-C$ composite capacitors is achieved by studying the influence of the electromigration parameter on leakage and field strength through the inherit asymmetrical structure of the fabricated capacitors.

One approach to creating these composites is to use a spin-coated nanoparticle film together with vapour deposited polymers, which can yield high performance, but also forms a structurally asymmetric device. The performance of a nanoparticle BST/parylene-C composite capacitor is compared to that of a nanoparticle BST capacitor without the polymer layer under both directions of bias. The composite device shows a five orders of magnitude improvement in the leakage current under positive bias of the bottom electrode relative to the pure-particle device, and four orders of magnitude improvement when the top electrode is positively biased. The voltage tolerance of the device is also improved, and it is asymmetric (44 V vs. 28 V in bottom and top positive bias, respectively). This study demonstrates the advantage of this class of composite device construction, but also shows that proper application of the device bias in this type of asymmetrical system can yield an additional benefit.

The dependence of the field tolerance of nanoparticle/polymer composite capacitors on the electromigration parameter of the electrodes is investigated using the symmetrical dielectric system. The breakdown is suppressed by selecting the polarity used in nanoparticle (Ba,Sr)TiO₃/parylene-C composite film-based capacitors. Metals including gold, silver, copper, chromium, and aluminum with comparable surface conditions were examined as the electrodes. The asymmetric silver, aluminum, gold, copper, and chromium electrode devices show a 64 %, 29 %, 28 %, 17 %, 33 %, improvement in the effective maximum operating field, respectively, when comparing bias polarity. The field at which filament formation is observed shows a clear dependence on the electromigration properties of the electrode material and demonstrates that use of electromigration resistant metal electrodes offers an additional route to improving the performance of capacitors using this nanoparticle/polymer composite architecture.

The second part of my thesis focuses on the novel pneumatic printing process that enables manipulation of the crystal growth of the organic semiconductors to achieve oriented crystal with high mobility. Small molecule organic semiconductors are attracting immense attention as the active material for the large-area flexible electronics due to their solution processability, mechanical flexibility, and potential for high performance. However, the ability to rapidly pattern and deposit multiple materials and control the thin-film morphology are significant challenges facing industrial scale production. A novel and simple pneumatic nozzle printing approach is developed to control the crystallization of organic thin-films and deposit multiple materials with wide range of viscosity including on the same substrate. Pneumatic printing uses capillary action between the nozzle and substrate combined with control of air pressure to dispense the solution from a dispense tip with a reservoir. Orientation and size of the crystals is controlled by tuning the printing direction, speed, and the temperature of the substrate.

The main advantages of pneumatic printing technique are 1) simple setup and process, 2) multi-material layered deposition applicable to wide range of solution viscosity, 3) control over crystal growth. The manipulation of crystal growth will be discussed in the next chapter. This method for performance optimization and patterning has great potential for advancing printed electronics.

The dependence of the mobility of printed thin film 6,13-bis(triisopropylsilylethynyl) pentacene [TIPS-pentacene] and C8-BTBT on printing conditions is investigated, and

the result indicates that the formation of well-ordered crystals occurs at an optimal head translation speed. A maximum mobility of $0.75 \text{ cm}^2/(\text{Vs})$ is achieved with 0.3 mm/s printing speed and $1.3 \text{ cm}^2/(\text{Vs})$ with 0.3 mm/s printing speed at 50 °C for TIPS-pentacene and C8-BTBT respectively. In summary, pneumatic printing technique can be an attractive route to industrial scale large area flexible electronics fabrication.

Table of Contents

	List of Figures				
	List of Tables				
1	Intr	oducti	ion	1	
	1.1	Backg	round and Motivation	1	
	1.2	Capac	itor	3	
		1.2.1	Parallel Plate Capacitor Structure	3	
		1.2.2	High- κ BaSrTiO_3/Parylene Composite Dielectric $\ .$ $\ .$	5	
	1.3	Organ	ic Thin Film Transistor	6	
		1.3.1	Basics of Organic Semiconductor - Pentacene	6	
		1.3.2	TIPS-pentacene	8	
		1.3.3	С8-ВТВТ	9	
		1.3.4	OFET Operation and Model	9	
	1.4 Objective and Approach				
		1.4.1	Printed BaSrTiO ₃ /Parylene Capacitor $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	11	
		1.4.2	Printed Organic Semiconductor	12	
Ι	Pr	inted	Capacitor Optimization	15	
2	BaS	SrTiO ₃	/Polymer composite Capacitor - Asymmetric Structure	9	
	and	Field	Tolerance Optimization	16	
	2.1 Introduction \ldots			16	

	2.2	Fabrication Method	18
	2.3	Testing Method and Field Tolerance	18
	2.4	Failure Mechanism	19
		2.4.1 Fowler-Nordheim Emission	20
	2.5	Electrical Properties and Discussion	22
	2.6	Conclusion	23
3	Eleo	ctromigration and its Effect on Field Tolerance	32
	3.1	Introduction	32
	3.2	Structure and Fabrication Method	35
	3.3	Testing Method	36
	3.4	Result and Discussion	37
	3.5	Conclusion	39
4	4 Mechanical Properties and Reliability		45
	4.1	Fracture Toughness Test	45
	4.2	Hardness and Youngs Modulus	46
	4.3	Adhesion Test	47
	4.4	Age Test and Reliability	48
	4.5	Conclusion	49
II Printed OTFT Optimization 53			
5	Pne	eumatic Printing Method	54
	5.1	Introduction	54
	5.2	Pneumatic Printing Process	56
	5.3	Printing Electrode	57
	5.4	Printed Inverter	57
	5.5	Fabrication Method	58

	5.6	Result and Discussion	59	
6	6 Small Molecule Semiconductor Crystal Growth Manipulation via			
	Pne	eumatic Printing Process	69	
	6.1	Introduction	69	
	6.2	Experimental	73	
		6.2.1 Materials	73	
		6.2.2 Sample Preparation and Patterning	73	
		6.2.3 Printing and Characterization	73	
	6.3	Printing Parameters	75	
	6.4	Self-Assembled Monolayer Surface Treatment	76	
	6.5	Printing Temperature	77	
	6.6	Solution Concentration	78	
	6.7	Result and Discussion	79	
		6.7.1 TIPS-pentacene Nucleation and Crystal Growth Manipulation	79	
		6.7.2 Printed TIPS-pentacene Mobility	80	
	6.8	С8-ВТВТ	81	
	6.9	Conclusion	81	
7	Con	nclusion	96	
8	List	t of Contributions	100	
II	II	Bibliography	102	
Bi	bliog	graphy	103	

List of Figures

1.1	Parallel plate capacitor structure illustrated with dielectric material		
	with dielectric constant, ϵ . The two identical electrodes, with area		
	A, are separated by dielectric layer with thickness of d . The total		
	capacitance of the parallel plate capacitor is given by $C = \frac{\epsilon A}{d}$	4	
1.2	Resonanace forms of benzene	7	
1.3	Chemical structure of pentacene	7	
1.4	Chemical structure of TIPS-pentacene	8	
1.5	Chemical structure of C8-BTBT	9	
1.6	IV characteristic of printed TIPS-pentacene. a) \mathbf{I}_{DS} vs \mathbf{V}_{DS} under		
	different V _G b) I _{DS} vs V _{GS} with V _{DS} = -40 V	13	
1.7	A schematic illustration of the organic thin film transistor cross-sectional		
	structure and operation regions	14	

2.1	Process flow of the nanoparticle BST/parylene-C composite layer: (a)	
	$5~\mathrm{nm}$ of chrome and $40~\mathrm{nm}$ of gold are deposited onto a clean bare glass	
	substrate by thermal evaporation and photolithographically patterned.	
	(b) BST film (280nm) is deposited by spin-casting the solution onto	
	the bottom electrode using a two-step dynamic coating process followed	
	by dehydration bake at 80 C for 12 hours. (c) Parylene-C is deposited	
	on top of the BST film by chemical vapor deposition. This process	
	forms a BST/parylene-C composite layer of around 80 nm. (d)40 nm	
	of gold is thermally evaporated with a metal stencil shadow mask to	
	form a patterned top electrode.	25
2.2	Cross section SEM image of the nanoparticle BST/parylene-C com-	
	posite layer	26
2.3	Illustration of quantifying voltage tolerance by qualifying at a set leak-	
	age current density	26
2.4	Characteristic of a self-healing device (a) I-V characteristic device with	
	self-healing property. The leakage current is significantly reduced after	
	the partial breakdown (b) Top view of the self-healing capacitor after	
	partial breakdown.	27
2.5	Experimental data and Fowler-Nordheim equation fitted data \ldots	28
2.6	Frequency dependent capacitance plot	29
2.7	Frequency dependent relative dielectric constant and loss tangent $\ .$.	30
2.8	(a) I-V characteristic of BST device (b) I-V characteristic of BST/parylen	9 -
	C composite device (c) Voltage binning data at 10 A/cm2 (d) Current	
	binning data at 20V	31

3.1Schematic cross section of the BST/parylene-C composite capacitor on a glass substrate (top). The dielectric thickness is approximately 300 nm, and the top electrode serves as the reference electrode. The same metal is used for the top and bottom electrodes, with the exception of a thin chromium adhesion/wetting layer applied to the glass prior to deposition of the bottom electrode. The parylene coating partially penetrates the nanoparticle film. The deposition is self-limiting; parylene initially fills the voids between the nanoparticles until a solid composite is formed and deposition proceeds on the surface. The fabricated capacitor array is also shown on the bottom. The electrodes are outside of the active region which minimizes the damage during 40 This figure shows the frequency dependent relative dielectric constant 3.2(top group) and the loss tangent (bottom group) of the BST/parylene-C capacitors with silver, aluminum, gold, copper, and chromium electrodes. The high resistivity of the chromium electrodes leads to an unusually large effective series resistance (ESR), leading to an electrodelimited frequency response. In general, the electrode material has min-41 The field tolerance of BST/parylene-C composite capacitors plotted 3.3 against the electromigration parameter of the silver, aluminum, gold, and copper electrodes. The electromigration parameter for chromium does not appear to be reported in the literature and is plotted outside 43Field Tolerance of the BST/parylene-C composite capacitors plotted 3.4 against a) Work Function and b) Surface Roughness of the silver, aluminum, gold, copper, and chromium electrodes. 44 4.146

4.2	The data for hardness test on BST + parylene film $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	48
4.3	Grid for Adhesion test	49
4.4	The tape test method	50
4.5	Adhesion test result	50
4.6	ASTM 3359 Table	51
4.7	Age test sample designed to be interfaced with 7001 switch matrix	
	system to obtain statistical data.	52
4.8	Age test conducted at elevated temperature over 1100 hours	52

5.1 Pneumatic printer set-up. The syringe and the needle serve as the solution reservoir and the printing nozzle. The reservoir is interfaced with EFD pressure controller to provide vacuum and forward pressure. The Bluefox camera is there to enable alignment of different deposition layers. Spring-loaded sample holder allows for levelling of the sample, and it is equipped with a thin film heater (not shown) for substrate temperature control. The camera, sample holder, and the syringe are interfaced with a 3D stage to control the position and printing motion.

60

5.2 Illustration of the pneumatic printing process. 1). An appropriate level of vacuum is applied to the reservoir to both keep the solution from dripping out, and to suspend the meniscus. 2) A forward pressure is then applied for a short period of time, typically 10 - 20 ms, to contact the meniscus to the substrate surface. At this moment the capillary force keeps the meniscus attach to the surface even after applying the forward pressure and same level of vacuum is applied as before. 3) The nozzle starts the printing with defined direction with defined printing speed, and the solution is drawn out of the nozzle via capillary action. Once the desired printing is done, the nozzle is raised to a height greater than the printing height, h, to separate the meniscus contact with the substrate. A trace of desired material has been drawn on the substrate. 61

5.3	Printing process of silver electrode. a) Lower the nozzle to printing	
	heigh, h. b) A forward pressure is then applied for 10 ms to estab-	
	lish contact between the meniscus and the substrate surface. c) The	
	3D stage initiates printing with defined direction at specified printing	
	speed. d) Once the desired printing is done, the nozzle is raised to a	
	height greater than the printing height, h, to separate the meniscus	
	contact with the substrate	62
5.4	Printed silver electrode. Repeated pattern with 300 $\mu \rm m$ electrode width	
	and 45 μ m spacing	63
5.5	Printed silver SD and G electrode with average channel length of 100	
	\pm 11 um. \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	64
5.6	Structure of the printed TFT. a) Cross-section of the TFT b) Top view	
	of fabricated SDG structure with dielectric before p-type semiconduc-	
	tor deposition c) Top view of fabricated SDG structure with dielectric	
	before n-type semiconductor deposition d) Top view of the complete	
	inverter structure	65
5.7	Circuit diagram of the inverter	66
5.8	Output characteristic of the printed TFT. a) p-type TIPS-pentacene	
	b) n-type DPP-CN	67
5.9	Output characteristic of the printed 2:1 inverter. a) Transfer curve of	
	inverter with gain of 15.9 b) Transfer curve of 7 devices. \ldots .	68
6.1	Cross-section of the printed TFT structure	74

6.2	Printing process of TIPS-pentacene. a). An appropriate level of vac-	
	uum is applied to the reservoir to both keep the solution from dripping	
	out, and to suspend the meniscus. b) A forward pressure is then ap-	
	plied for a short period of time, typically 10 - 20 ms, to contact the	
	meniscus to the substrate surface. At this moment the capillary force	
	keeps the meniscus attach to the surface even after applying the for-	
	ward pressure and same level of vacuum is applied as before. c) The	
	nozzle starts the printing with defined direction with defined printing	
	speed, and the solution is drawn out of the nozzle via capillary action.	
	d) Once the desired printing is done, the nozzle is raised to a height	
	greater than the printing height, h, to separate the meniscus contact	
	with the substrate	83
6.3	AFM image of the SAM layer. a) Good quality SAM layer that has	
	surface roughness of 1.6 nm which is close to that of the substrate. b)	
	Poor quality SAM laye with surface roughness several times larger at	
	6.74 nm	84
6.4	AFM image of the printed TIPS-pentacene on top a poor quality PTS	
	SAM layer. The crystal quality is poor with rough edges and uneven	
	surface. The thickness of the film is about 76 nm	84
6.5	AFM image of the printed TIPS-pentacene on top a good quality PTS	
	SAM layer. The crystal quality is much better with sharp edge and	
	smooth surface. The thickness of the crystal is about 190 nm. $\ .$	85
6.6	IV characteristic of the fabricated TFT. a) Output of TFT with poor	
	quality SAM with lower current than expected. b) Output of the TFT	
	with good quality SAM with much higher current level and smoother	
	curve	86

- 6.7 Crystal structure dependency on substrate temperature. At 40 °C, the supersaturated regime is not established as the boiling point of toluene is 120 °C. Therefore, the crystallization occurs after the drawing is completed. This similar to drop-casted method, and spherulitic crystal structures are formed. At 70 °C, the supersaturation regime and precipitation occur faster than the printing speed; therefore, discontinuous wave-front crystal structures are formed. It turns out that 50 °C is the optimal printing speed at which the supersaturation and crystallization can occur at a rate that matches our printing speed.

87

- 6.9 Exaggerated seeding picture. The nucleation of the seeds are formed due to the differential volume of the contact meniscus.89
- 6.10 Cross polarized image of the printed TIPS-pentacene crystal. a) The crystal domain at maximum intensity b). The crystal domain extinguished polarized light almost completely when rotated about 45°. The intensity change indicates that the crystal domain formed is well aligned. 90
- 6.11 Cross polarized image of the printed TIPS-pentacene crystal with varying speed.
 a) f) Cross-polarized images of pneumatically printed TIPS-pentacene thin films formed from printing speed of 1 mm/s, 0.8 mm/s, 0.6 mm/s, 0.4 mm/s, 0.2 mm/s, and 0.1 mm/s respectively. The red arrow indicates the printing direction.]

- 6.12 Cross polarized image of the top-view of the TFT devices with printed TIPS-pentacene film with varying speed. a) f) Cross-polarized images of pneumatically printed TIPS-pentacene thin films formed from printing speed of 1 mm/s, 0.8 mm/s, 0.6 mm/s, 0.4 mm/s, 0.2 mm/s, and 0.1 mm/s respectively. The red arrow indicates the printing direction.
- 0.1 mm/s respectively. The red arrow indicates the printing direction.
 92
 6.13 The TIPS-pentacene mobility vs printing speed plot. a) The mobility against printing speed. The optimal printing speed at 0.2 mm/s resulted in highest average mobility of above 0.25 cm²/Vs. The maximum mobility of 0.75 cm²/Vs is obtained at a printing speed of 0.3 mm/s. b) The top-view of the TFT devices with printed TIPS-pentacene film at printing speed of 0.3 mm/s.
- 6.14 Cross polarized image of the top-view of the TFT devices with printed C8-BTBT film with varying speed. a) - f) Cross-polarized images of pneumatically printed C8-BTBT thin films formed from printing speed of 1 mm/s, 0.8 mm/s, 0.6 mm/s, 0.4 mm/s, 0.2 mm/s, and 0.1 mm/s respectively. The red arrow indicates the printing direction. 94

List of Tables

1.1	OFET regions of operation and equations	11
2.1	Dielectric characteristic of BST/parylene-C composite films	28
3.1	Dielectric and Electrode Properties	42
4.1	Result for fracture toughness test	47
4.2	Nano-indentation result	47
5.1	Average gain and V_m of the printed inverter $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	59
6.1	Key parameters for pneumatic printing of TIPS-pentacene	76
6.2	Comparison of mobility with good and poor quality SAM layer	77

Acknowledgments

My Ph.D. journey is not only a personal accomplishment. I could not have done it alone. First and foremost, I would like to thank my advisor, Professor Ioannis Kymissis, for his support and guidance throughout my years at CLUE. His passion for innovation and encouragement for creativity kept me moving forward. I am very fortunate to have him as my advisor.

I would like to thank all the current and past CLUE members for your friendship and support. In particular, I would like to thank Dr. Yu-Jen Hsu for his guidance and helpful advice since my first day of joining CLUE. I would like to thank Dr. Fabio Carta for all the lengthy discussion and suggestions on virtually all my projects. I would like to thank Dr. Steve Park for his insightful feedback and encouragements. I'd like to thank Dr. Nadia Pervez, Dr. Brian Tull, Dr. Zhang Jia, Dr. Vincent Lee, Dr. John Sarik, Dr. Haig Norian, Dr. Jonathan Beck, Dr. Marshall Cox, Hisn-Jung Lee, Hassan Edrees, Yasmin Afsar, Zeynep Barsaran, Kostas Alexandro, Amrita Masurkar, Jose Bahamonde, and Johannes Bintinger for all the valuable discussions and contributions to my work. Special thanks to Kevin Kao, my first student, for all the work you have done with me.

My soon to be wife, Joanne Liu, for all her love, support, and understanding.

Finally, the love, support and patience of my family. My mom, dad, and my brother, Kang.

To my family

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Background and Motivation

Solution processed electronics are expected to be pave the way to enable low cost, large area, flexible circuitries and allow for wide range of applications space not possible with traditional silicon based electronics. The applications such as flexible and conformal display, large area sensing including electronic skin, and ultra low cost/disposable electronics are becoming a reality as the technology matures. [1][2][3][4][5][6][7]

However, the commercialization of solution processed flexible electronics faces several challenges. The passive components such as capacitors are limited in frequency range and operating voltage or require high temperature treatment (> 600 °C), which is not suitable for fabrication on plastic substrate.[8] On the other hand, the printed active components such as organic semiconductor based transistors suffer from low mobility, and ultimately, leading to limited current-carrying capacity. Just as in traditional silicon technology, the fabrication process and material choices significantly impacts the performance of the fabricated devices. Therefore, improving the performance through optimization of material and structure consideration as well as fabrication process is desirable.

Ceramic nanoparticle and polymer composite dielectrics offer a promising route to

achieve high performance printed capacitors. The filler-matrix system with ceramic fillers hosted with polymer matrix combines the high dielectric constant of the ceramic materials and the low loss of the polymer materials.[9][10][11] In particular, the high- κ dielectric nanocrystals based peroskite oxides in paraelectric or potentially super paraelectric state is an attractive candidate as the ceramic filler. It has been shown that parylene can be used as the host matrix polymer that passivates the surface and suppressed the loss due to leakage in such composite system.[8] Understanding of the failure mechanism of such system can lead to optimization of bias conditions and electrode material selection that can provide additional knob to tuning the performance of the device.

Solution processable small molecule semiconductors are strong candidates as the active materials for field transistor for the flexible electronics applications due to their high mobility with potential for further improvement.[12][13][14] The mobility of the small organic molecule semiconductors are strongly depending on its crystal orientation.[15][16][17] Hydrodynamics flow significantly influences the molecular assemblies, and the highest mobility is achieved when the direction of the current flow is aligned with the direction of molecular packing.[18][15][19][20][21][22] Many methods have been developed to control the orientation of the crystal growth including dip coating, zone casting, hollow pen writing, solution shearing, and off-centre spin-coating technique.[22][23][16][24] However, these techniques have challenges in patterning, or practical implementation due to complex equipment requirements. Therefore, the development of simple printing method that can manipulate the crystal growth to achieve high performance and deposit multiple materials at the simultaneously is desirable. With such technique, the solution processable organic semiconductor transistors are one step closer to commercial implementation.

1.2 Capacitor

This section presents an introduction to the theory of the capacitor operation and general discussion of the dielectric materials. The parallel plate capacitor is the simplest structure to investigate the electrical properties of the dielectric materials, and it is the preferred structure for the experiments discussed in this thesis. We will introduce the basics of the material of interest, $BaSrTiO_3/parylene$ composite dielectric, later in this section as well.

1.2.1 Parallel Plate Capacitor Structure

Many materials can be used as the dielectric material, and the electrical characteristics of the capacitor depend on the material employed. The electrical properties of a given material can be characterized through a simple parallel plate structure. The operation theory and the basic characteristics of parallel plate capacitor structure are described in this section.

The 3D cross sectional view of a parallel plate capacitor structure is shown in Fig. 1.1. The capacitor is made of two metal electrodes with the same area, A, separated by the dielectric material of interest with thickness of d. Note that the overlapping area of the two electrodes defines the active area of the capacitor. In this case, it is assumed that the electrodes are perfectly aligned so that the active area is equal to the electrode area A. When a voltage source is connect to the capacitor as shown in the Figure, the electric force will move the electron towards the positive terminal of the voltage source. An electron deficiency occurs on the positive side which can be describe as plus charge, +q, will accumulate on the (+) electrode and negative charge, -q, will accumulate on the (-) negative electrodes are equal to the potential of the voltage source. The is the charging of the capacitor. The equation describing the total capacitance are:

$$Q = CV \tag{1.1}$$

$$C = \frac{\epsilon A}{d} \tag{1.2}$$

$$\epsilon = \epsilon_0 * \epsilon_r \tag{1.3}$$

Where C (Farad) is the total capacitance, ϵ the dielectric constant, A (cm^2) the surface area, and d (cm) the thickness of the dielectric layer. The dielectric constant is given by the product of permittivity of vacuum ($\epsilon_0 = 8.854 * 10^{-12}$ F/m) and the relative permittivity (ϵ_r).[25]



Figure 1.1: Parallel plate capacitor structure illustrated with dielectric material with dielectric constant, ϵ . The two identical electrodes, with area A, are separated by dielectric layer with thickness of d. The total capacitance of the parallel plate capacitor is given by $C = \frac{\epsilon A}{d}$.

1.2.2 High- κ BaSrTiO₃/Parylene Composite Dielectric

Dielectric material properties determine the performance of the capacitors. Thin film materials with high dielectric constant are attracting immense attention due to the ability to enhance the field effect or energy storage density. Such high performance film have a wide range of applications including memory, embedded capacitor, gate dielectric for TFT, and power storage devices. [26][27][28][29][30] Improving the property of the dielectric media through nanofabrication techniques and nanoscale material engineering can enable increased efficiency and range of operation. [31]

A number of approaches have been proposed to achieve high capacitance density in a thin film system including deposition of high- κ inorganic dielectric with high temperature post annealing and the development of high- κ polymer dielectrics.[32][33][34][35] [36] However, these approaches introduce several fabrication complications and face some performance limitations. The use of inorganic dielectric requiring high temperature process (> 600°C) prevents fabrications on flexible substrates. The polymer dielectrics typically have lower dielectric constant (< 15) and limited frequency range. Combining both advantages, the high dielectric constant of inorganic dielectrics and the low processing temperature of the polymer dielectrics, appears to be possible through the use of ceramic-nanoparticle/polymer composite dielectrics.

Low temperature processed, aggregate-free, highly crystalline ceramic nanoparticle are strong candidates as the next generation dielectric materials. Previous work have shown the size tunability and solvent dispersion uniformity of the BaSrTiO₃ (BST) nanoparticle.[37][38][39] The size of the BST particle can be tuned from 5 to 100 nm with 90 % yield and narrow size distribution.[8] However, pure BST films exhibit lower dielectric constant (15) due to limitation in packing ratio of the spherical structure. It has been shown that by filling the voids (initially air) with polymer matrix, the performance of the composite system increases significantly.[31] Furthermore, the dielectric loss is reduced by an order of magnitude. The performance and optimization of the composite dielectric capacitor formulated by combining the BST nanoparticles and the polymer matrix will be discussed in detail in the fist part of this thesis.

1.3 Organic Thin Film Transistor

This section presents an introduction to basic theory and operation principles of organic semiconductors. The correlation between the chemical structures and electronics properties is discussed. TIPS-pentacene and C8-BTBT are two promising organic semiconductor materials that exhibit high mobility with potential in organic thin film transistor applications.

1.3.1 Basics of Organic Semiconductor - Pentacene

Organic semiconductors are carbon-based materials with electrical conductivity in between that of the insulator and conductor. This class of materials have delocalized charge carrier resulting from their conjugated bonds. [40] The alternating single and double bonds in the molecule, illustrated in Fig. 1.2, indicate that the carbon atoms in the molecule are sp2 hybridized. The neighbouring sp^2 hybridized carbon atoms forms delocalized clouds of π electrons called conjugated bonds. This conjugated network gives rise to the energy-gap (E_g) which is defined as the difference between the highest-occupied-molecular-orbital (HOMO) and lowest-unoccupied-molecularlevel (LUMO).[41] The presence of HOMO-LUMO gap results in the semiconductor characteristics where charge transport can be controlled by external stimulation including electric field and light. The material characteristic of the organic semiconductor can be modified by changing its chemical structure. For example, increasing the length and branching position of the side chains and changing the length of the fused benzene ring backbone can greatly influence the material properties of the organic semiconductors.[41][42]

Pentacene is a p-type semiconductor consists of five benzene rings, and it is one of



Figure 1.2: Resonance forms of benzene

the most popular small molecule organic semiconductor due to its potential for high mobility. The chemical structure of the pentacene is shown in Fig 1.3. The HOMO-LUMO gap for pentacene is about 2.1 eV.[43] Pentacene is a p-type semiconductor meaning the holes are the majority charge carriers, and the positive charge transport is the dominant carrier transport. The electron rich pentacene molecule can easily lose an electron, but it is energetically difficult to accept one. The highest mobility reported exceeds 5 cm²/Vs which is larger than that of amorphous silicon.[44][45]



Figure 1.3: Chemical structure of pentacene

However, pentacene is not ideal for large area electronics application for several reason. First reason is that pentacene can only be deposited through vacuum because it is not soluble to the degree where solution process can be employed. Second, pentacene oxidises easily, which leads to disruption of transport and performance degradation. Lastly, the pentacene forms two crystal phases that are not perfectly matched. The presence of both crystal phases leads to grain mismatch and reduces electrical performance. One approach to solve all three short comings is to engineer pentacene derivative by functionalizing it. The most promising pentacene derivative that posses both air-stability and high performance is TIPS-pentacene.

1.3.2 TIPS-pentacene

The 6th and 13th position of the pentacene is susceptible to reaction to water and oxygen resulting in performance degradation. A pentacene derivative, 6,13-Bis(triisopropylsilylethynyl)pentacene [TIPS-pentacene], is engineered to synthetically attach two Si-(CH₃)₃ to the 6th and 13th position on the molecule. The attached functional groups are carefully selected to achieve passivation of the most reactive sites and improves solubility. Furthermore, the functionalization leads to single phase crystallization.[41][46] The molecular structure of the TIPS-pentacene is shown in the Fig. 1.4. TIPS-pentacene can be deposited through both thermal evaporation and solution process. The performance of the evaporated TIPS-pentacene is better than that of the regular pentacene; however, solution processed TIPS-pentacene shows potential for high performance because its strong tendency to crystallizes. Solution process TIPS-pentacene has attracted many attention over the last decade due to its superior mobility. In the second part of this thesis, we will explore a novel printing method to achieve well aligned crystal growth and improved mobility in TIPS-pentacene based transistors.



Figure 1.4: Chemical structure of TIPS-pentacene

1.3.3 C8-BTBT

Another small molecule that exhibit high mobility is 2,7-dioctyl[1]benzothieno[3,2b][1]benzothiophene (C8-BTBT). The molecular structure of C8-BTBT is shown in Fig. 1.5. The crystal stacking of C8-BTBT is characterized by herring-bone arrangement in the intra-layer plane which facilitates almost isotropic carrier transport in two-dimension.[47] The highest reported mobility for C8-BTBT is 43 cm²/Vs by Yuan et al. The extra ordinary mobility is achieved by an novel off-centre spin-coating method to form a meta-stable crystal structure.[24] Other groups have employed various printing technique including solvent/antisolvent inkjet printing, spin-coating with solvent vapour annealing, dip-coating process to fabricate transistor devices that exhibit mobility in the range of 3 - 16 cm²/Vs. [20][48][49]



Figure 1.5: Chemical structure of C8-BTBT

1.3.4 OFET Operation and Model

The carrier transport in organic semiconductor is still under-debate, but, in general, the conduction occurs due to hopping of charges between localized states on the individual molecules. The transport in an organic semiconductor is typically single carrier dominant. The formation of one or the other charge carrier type would require overcoming significantly larger barrier due to the asymmetry in the density of states in the disordered system like the organic semiconductor material. Therefore, the amorphous or polycrystalline organic semiconductors excursively allow electron or hole transport but not both.[41] Typical transfer and output characteristic of printed TIPS-pentacene is shown in Fig 1.6 a) and b) respectively. Even though organic semiconductor based TFTs (OFETs) operate under different conduction mechanism, the electrical characteristic of the organic thin film transistor can be modelled using the formula similar to the ones used for the classic MOSFETs to the first order. The basic capacitor structure that dictates the charge density in the channel through the relationships $Q_C = C_i(V_{GS} - V_T)$ holds true for OFET as well. C_i is the gate dielectric capacitance, and the $V_{GS} - V_T$ is voltage applied in the channel through the gate electrode above the threshold voltage. The regions of operation can be separated into three regions: cut-off, linear and saturation.

The OFET regions of operations are organized in Table 1.1. Under bias condition where $V_{GS} < V_T$, the channel is depleted, and there are very few mobile charges and almost no current flows. When small V_{DS} and larger V_{GS} is applied with the bias conditions $V_{GS} > V_T$ and $V_{DS} < V_{GS} - V_T$, the device enters linear region where the current is determined by the charge induced by the gate voltage above threshold and the geometrical factor. The bias condition and current equation in the linear region is shown in row 2 of the Table 1.1. As the V_{DS} is increased until $V_{DS} > V_{GS} - V_T$, pinch-off occurs, and the device is under saturation. The bias condition and current equation in the saturation region is shown in row 3 of the Table 1.1. The schematic illustrations of the organic thin film transistor cross-sectional structure and operation regions are shown in Fig. 1.7.

Fundamentally, mobility is the relationship describing how fast carriers can move through a given material under an applied electric field, and it is the most frequentlyreported figure of merit to evaluate the performance of the fabricated OFETs. The mobility in an organic semiconductor is significantly dependent on the dielectric/semiconductor interface properties and the structure and alignment of the semiconductor crystals. The effective mobility of the fabricated OFETs can be determined by measuring the I_D vs V_G characteristic in the saturation region. To eliminate the dependency on the ambiguity of the threshold voltage, the effective mobility can be extracted by plotting the $\sqrt{|I_D|}$ vs V_G and calculating the slope. The equation for mobility extraction is

Region	Bias condition	Equation
Cutoff	$\mid V_{GS} \mid < \mid V_T \mid$	$I_D \approx 0A$
Linear	$\mid V_{DS} \mid < \mid V_{GS} - V_T \mid$	$I_D = \frac{W}{L} \mu C_{OX} (V_{GS} - V_T - \frac{V_{DS}}{2}) V_{DS}$
Saturation	$\mid V_{DS} \mid > \mid V_{GS} - V_T \mid$	$I_D = \frac{W}{2L} \mu_{sat} C_{OX} (V_{GS} - V_T)^2$

Table 1.1: OFET regions of operation and equations

shown in Eqn. 1.4.

$$\mu = \frac{2L}{W} \frac{1}{C_i} \left(\frac{\partial \sqrt{I_D}}{\partial V_G}\right)^2 \tag{1.4}$$

1.4 Objective and Approach

1.4.1 Printed BaSrTiO₃/Parylene Capacitor

Nanoparticle (Ba, Sr)TiO3 (BST)-based films exhibit a high effective dielectric constant. Incorporation of polymer host, parylene, improves the dielectric strength and high loss by reducing the leakage current. The composite system combines the favourable dielectric constant of the nanoparticles with the superior dielectric strength of the polymer host to offer a high performance, printable dielectric material. We have previously shown that depositing a parylene-C film via chemical vapour deposition after printing a film of inorganic nanoparticles improves surface roughness and suppresses leakage while maintaining reasonably high effective dielectric constant. The introduction of parylene-C as a passivation layer results in a physically asymmetric capacitor, and this asymmetric system is well suited for investigating the electrical consequences of the bias polarization. Furthermore, the asymmetric structure of the BST/parylene-C capacitor is an ideal system to study the effect of the electrodes' electromigration parameter on capacitor performance. The top and bottom electrodes interface with different physical barriers, providing a controlled experimental environment in which to compare the same electric field on the dielectric with a passivated (parylene-C coated) surface, and a free (porous BST) electrode interface. We use this asymmetrical relationship to investigate the correlation between voltage tolerance and electromigration susceptibility. The favourable bias condition and the selection of electrode material will lead to optimization of the field strength of the printed capacitors.

1.4.2 Printed Organic Semiconductor

The simplest way to print organic semiconductor solution is to use a needle syringe interfaced with 3D stage and a EFD to control the back and forward pressure applied to the syringe. I demonstrate that this simple and novel pneumatic nozzle printing approach to fabricating organic semiconductor can achieve control over the crystallization of thin-films and deposition of multiple materials on the same substrate. Pneumatic printing uses capillary action between the nozzle and substrate combined with control of air pressure to dispense the solution from a dispense tip with a reservoir. We can control the orientation and size of the crystals by tuning the printing direction, speed, and the temperature of the substrate. Pneumatic printing technique can be an attractive route to industrial scale large area flexible electronics fabrication.



Figure 1.6: IV characteristic of printed TIPS-pentacene. a) I_{DS} vs V_{DS} under different V_G b) I_{DS} vs V_{GS} with $V_{DS} = -40$ V



Figure 1.7: A schematic illustration of the organic thin film transistor cross-sectional structure and operation regions.

Part I

Printed Capacitor Optimization

Chapter 2

BaSrTiO₃/Polymer composite Capacitor - Asymmetric Structure and Field Tolerance Optimization

2.1 Introduction

Polymer/metal oxide nano-composites are attractive as solution processable high permittivity materials for dielectric layers in a variety of electronic devices including transistors and energy storage devices. [8][50][51][52][53][54][55] The solution processability of these nano-composites enables roll-to-roll fabrication on flexible substrates at room temperature under ambient conditions, which has the potential for large-scale, low cost manufacturing.[56] Printable ceramic capacitors offer performance competitive with high temperature fired multi-layer ceramic capacitors, and they exhibit potential for high operating frequency performance, making them competitive with polymer film capacitors.[8][54][57][58]

Nanoparticle (Ba, Sr)TiO3 (BST)-based films have been shown to exhibit a high effective dielectric constant.[8][54][57][59] Without surface modification or incorporation of a polymer host, however, a high leakage current in the film leads to poor
dielectric strength. The incorporation of a polymer host combines the favorable dielectric constant of the nanoparticles with the superior dielectric strength of the polymer host to offer a high performance, printable dielectric material.[8][54][57][60][61][62]

We have previously shown that depositing a parylene-C film via chemical vapor deposition after printing a film of inorganic nanoparticles improves surface roughness and suppresses leakage while maintaining reasonably effective high dielectric constant.[8] Forming the composite in this way offers several advantages: there is no interaction of the polymer component with the particles in the suspension, the polymer penetrates and condenses in the film without disrupting its packing, and a higher effective fill factor can be achieved in the solid film.[63][64] Parylene deposition has also been shown to passivate surface states that lead to leakage and dielectric loss in nanoparticle and thin film systems.[8][54][57]

The introduction of parylene-C as a passivation layer results in a physically asymmetric capacitor. The bottom electrode is directly in contact with the nanoparticle material, whereas the top electrode is deposited on a thin parylene layer. The parylene also does not penetrate the entire body of a 280 nm thick nanoparticle film, which is confirmed by both microscopy and examination of thickness. As the reactive monomer condenses in the BST voids, it forms a polymer layer that prevents further penetration of monomer material deeper into the structure. In this work, we investigate the electrical consequences of this asymmetry, with a particular emphasis on the effect this asymmetry has on the use of these capacitors in energy conversion applications. We show that the difference in electromigration characteristics between the bottom and top interface leads to reduced leakage and superior dielectric strength when the device is biased with the bottom electrode as the positive electrode.

2.2 Fabrication Method

The device tested is a 3 mm x 3 mm parallel plate capacitor with the composite material as the dielectric. The capacitors were made using the following process (illustrated in Fig. 2.1): First, 5 nm of chrome and 40 nm of gold are deposited onto a clean bare glass substrate by thermal evaporation. These electrodes, which are the bottom electrodes of the structure, are photolithographically patterned and wet etched. The nanoparticle solution is composed of B0.7S0.3TiO3 nanoparticles, 8 to 12- nm diameter, dispersed in ethanol with no surfactant at a concentration of 20 mg/ml.[8] The nanoparticles are synthesized using wet chemistry techniques yielding a high degree of monodispersity. [8] A film is formed by spin-casting the solution onto the bottom electrode using a two-step dynamic coating process. The first spin step is 15 seconds at 500 rpm, and the solution is dispensed on the substrate during this step. The second spin step is 45 seconds at 1000 rpm. The spin-coating process is repeated 4 times to achieve the desired thickness of 280 nm 20 nm. After a 12-hour dehydration bake at 80 C, parylene-C is deposited on top of the BST film by chemical vapor deposition. This process forms a BST/parylene-C composite layer of around 80 nm. Finally, 40 nm of gold is thermally evaporated with a metal stencil shadow mask to form a patterned top electrode. The cross section of the device is shown in Fig. 2.2. Capacitors with 1 mm x 1 mm active area are also fabricated to test for frequency response.

2.3 Testing Method and Field Tolerance

The capacitance and loss of the device was measured using an Agilent 4294 impedance analyzer with 42941A impedance probe.

It is known that the polymer film capacitors show a self-healing behavior, whereby local degradation of the electrode leads to recovery of the capacitor after a local failure. As a result, defining a single breakdown voltage for these devices is difficult.[65] We

instead use a voltage tolerance test that measures the leakage current and sets an acceptable range for leakage in each application. In this test, the voltage is swept from 0 V to 80 V and the current is measured. The top electrode is grounded and the bias is applied to the bottom electrode. For the forward bias case, a positive voltage is applied to the bottom electrode, and for reverse bias, a negative voltage is applied to the bottom electrode. The effect of the asymmetry introduced by the parylene-C composite layer is quantified by measuring the voltage tolerance, which is the voltage at which the device leakage current exceeds a defined current density. The leakage current is chosen so that the device is stressed below the level of catastrophic failure of the electrode. Fig. 2.3 illustrates the voltage tolerance qualification. The chosen leakage current density in this experiment is 10 A/cm^2 . This voltage tolerance test is performed on 32 devices per substrate using a switch matrix system (Keithley 7001) and source meter (Keithley 2400) with automated computer control.

Testing is performed on BST devices and BST/parylene-C composite devices. The BST device is symmetric in structure and serves as the control device. Comparison between the performance of the BST device and the BST/parylene-C composite device indicates the impact of the composite film.

2.4 Failure Mechanism

In many capacitor systems, the breakdown process leads to runaway damage that destroys the capacitors. In self-healing systems, such as polymer film and ceramic nanoparticle/polymer composites, the point of breakdown is not well-defined. The breakdown process is typically self-limiting, and destruction of the dielectric or electrodes limits the leakage observed in the device. Fig. 2.4 a) shows the IV characteristic of a self-healing device. The characteristic partial breakdown on the electrode is shown in Fig. 2.3 b). The leakage current in self-healing systems, which typically exhibit filamentary defects, follows a Fowler-Nordheim tunneling characteristic. [66][67]

Surface modification can suppress the leakage current in filament-forming capacitor systems and is one accepted approach to improving the voltage tolerance.[8][61][60][62] However, the two major factors that have been demonstrated to have major impact on the Fowler-Nordheim emission type leakage are the surface roughness and the work function. It has been shown, for example, that the surface roughness plays a significant role in the leakage characteristic, and that rougher electrode surfaces reduce the voltage at which the leakage occurs due to the formation of field enhancing asperities.[68] The tunneling current, which is caused by field emission from the electrode surface, is barrier dependent. The work function of the electrodes therefore also influences the leakage and breakdown field strength of the device.[69][70][71]

2.4.1 Fowler-Nordheim Emission

The Fowler-Nordheim emission equation is shown in equation 2.1 where the leakage current shows dependence on barrier heigh (ϕ) and applied electric field (E). It is clear that work function and surface roughness will play a role in this high field leakage regime. The work function will define the barrier height and the surface roughness (defining the effective distance between the electrode, d) will influence the effective applied field as shown in the equation 2.2. The measured leakage data can be fitted with the Fowler-Nordheim equation as shown in Fig. 2.5.

$$I_{leakage} = \frac{AE^2}{\phi} exp(\frac{-B\phi^{3/2}}{E})$$
(2.1)

$$E = \frac{V}{d} \tag{2.2}$$

In devices that exhibit filamentary failure mechanism, the electromigration parameter of the electrode material is a factor that can affect the field strength of the capacitor.[51] The electromigration parameter will determine the susceptibility of the

electrode to filament formation. Once the filaments are formed, the leakage current increase from the field enhancement at the apex of the wire, and will continue to draw the metal out. As the filament grows, the field and current increase, and it will ultimately lead to a runaway leakage process until Joule heating destroys the metal wire and heals the capacitor. The competing proposed mechanism is the formation of conducting paths in the dielectric, resulting in dielectric breakdown. In this situation, the conducting path is generally proposed to be formed by a change in the molecular structure of the dielectric associated with an interaction with the leakage current. In both cases, the work function is a crucial parameter in determining the breakdown field strength because the charge injection is directly associated with the barrier height. In the filamentary mechanism, the electromigration parameter also plays a significant role in determining the field tolerance, and understanding the influence of the electromigration parameter on leakage and field strength will provide an additional path to device optimization.

The asymmetric structure of the BST/parylene-C capacitor is an ideal system with which to study the effect of the electrodes' electromigration parameter on capacitor performance. The top and bottom electrodes interface with different physical barriers, providing a controlled experimental environment in which to compare the same electric field on the dielectric with a passivated (parylene-C coated) surface, and a free (porous BST) electrode interface.[72] In the next chapter, we use this asymmetrical relationship introduced in this chapter to investigate the correlation between voltage tolerance and electromigration susceptibility, while also examining the work function and the surface roughness contribution of the electrodes to the field tolerance of the device.

2.5 Electrical Properties and Discussion

The dielectric characteristics of the BST/parylene-C composite capacitor are summarized in Table 2.1. The dielectric layer is about 280 nm in thickness, and exhibits a relatively high k of 22 at 1 kHz and 17 at 1 MHz. The capacitance density is around 71 nF/cm² at 1 kHz and 55 nF/cm² at 1 MHz. The loss tangent is less than 0.05 at 1 MHz. Typical capacitance density data of 1 mm x 1 mm devices are shown in Fig. 2.6. The capacitance density measured from 1 mm x 1 mm devices and the 3 mm x 3 mm devices are consistent indicating good uniformity. The frequency dependent relative dielectric constant and loss tangent of the nanoparticle BST/parylene-C composite capacitor is shown in Fig. 2.7 2. Our data shows higher k and similar loss to our previously reported devices.[8]

The capacitor leakage is roughly exponential with voltage as shown in 2.8(a) for the nanoparticle BST device and Fig. 2.8(b) for the nanoparticle BST/parylene-C composite device. We suspect that filamentary conduction is the primary cause of this non-ohmic transport. Direct tunneling between two electrodes is unlikely at this dielectric thickness, and other groups have reached the same conclusion, showing Fowler-Nordheim tunneling from electrode filaments. [73][74][75] From AFM data, our gold bottom electrode shows a roughness of 11 nm with spikes as large as 78 nm. It has been shown that the roughness of the electrode contributes to the enhancement of Fowler-Nordheim tunneling. [66] [67] When the conduction mechanism is filamentary in nature, the asymmetry in the structure leads to asymmetry in the leakage current and voltage tolerance due to the surface passivation provided by the parylene layer. The I-V plot for a nanoparticle BST capacitor is shown in 2.8(a). As expected, there is no asymmetry present between the two bias conditions. The measurement variation due to the high leakage of the pure BST film in the low field region is shown with two pairs of curves in 2.8(a). A typical I-V characteristic for a nanoparticle BST/parylene-C composite capacitor under forward and reverse bias condition is shown in 2.8(b). While the leakage current still appears exponential in shape, the reverse-biased leakage current is roughly thirty times larger than the forward bias leakage current at 20 V shown in Table 2.1. The effect of the parylene-C layer can further be quantified by binning the leakage current density and voltage tolerance under forward and reverse bias conditions.

The voltage tolerance is investigated at a leakage current density of 10 A/cm² under different bias conditions. The voltage tolerance data is shown in 2.8(c). The voltage tolerance is comparable for nanoparticle BST devices under forward and reverse bias conditions. The capacitors with a nanoparticle BST/parylene-C composite dielectric layer, however, show a different voltage tolerance under varying bias polarity. All of the composite devices have a voltage tolerance less than 40 V under reverse bias. In comparison, under forward bias, 16% of the composite devices have a voltage tolerance below 40 V.

The leakage current density is investigated at 20 V under both bias conditions. The leakage current density data is shown in 2.8(d). The data for the capacitors without parylene-C shows no asymmetry with bias polarity; the leakage current is in the mA/cm² range at 20 V for both bias conditions. The capacitors with parylene-C composite exhibit asymmetry under different bias condition, as expected. A majority of the composite devices have a leakage current of approximately 1 A/cm² under reverse bias, and roughly 10 nA/cm² leakage under forward bias. The data demonstrates that the parylene-C rich interface to the top electrode is likely resisting filament formation.

2.6 Conclusion

We have investigated the electrical characteristic of capacitors made using BST nanoparticle films and nanoparticle BST/parylene-C composite films. The failure mechanism of such composite materials are also discussed. The capacitor with the composite film dielectric demonstrates a significant improvement in its electrical properties,

with leakage current reduced by about 4 orders of magnitude when compared with the nanoparticle BST film capacitor. We have further demonstrated significant benefit from forward biasing the particle/polymer composite device. Forward biasing the capacitor results in a 27x reduction in the device leakage current and a 16 V improvement in voltage tolerance when compared with identical capacitors under reverse bias. This work demonstrates a previously unrecognised sensitivity to bias direction in these composite devices, and that these systems will exhibit a higher voltage tolerance and lower leakage under forward bias polarization.



Figure 2.1: Process flow of the nanoparticle BST/parylene-C composite layer: (a) 5 nm of chrome and 40 nm of gold are deposited onto a clean bare glass substrate by thermal evaporation and photolithographically patterned. (b) BST film (280nm) is deposited by spin-casting the solution onto the bottom electrode using a two-step dynamic coating process followed by dehydration bake at 80 C for 12 hours. (c) Parylene-C is deposited on top of the BST film by chemical vapor deposition. This process forms a BST/parylene-C composite layer of around 80 nm. (d)40 nm of gold is thermally evaporated with a metal stencil shadow mask to form a patterned top electrode.



Figure 2.2: Cross section SEM image of the nanoparticle BST/parylene-C composite layer



Figure 2.3: Illustration of quantifying voltage tolerance by qualifying at a set leakage current density.



Figure 2.4: Characteristic of a self-healing device (a) I-V characteristic device with self-healing property. The leakage current is significantly reduced after the partial breakdown (b) Top view of the self-healing capacitor after partial breakdown.



Figure 2.5: Experimental data and Fowler-Nordheim equation fitted data

Table 2.1: Dielectr	ic characteristic	of BST/parylene-	C composite films
---------------------	-------------------	------------------	-------------------

	Reverse Bias	Forward Bias	
Film thickness (nm)	280 ± 20	400 ± 20	
Effective dielectric constant	$17 \pm 1.5^a \ 22 \pm 2^b$	$17 \pm 1.5^a \ 22 \pm 2^b$	
Capacitance density (nF/cm^2)	$55 \pm 5^a \ 71 \pm 6^b$	$55 \pm 5^a \ 71 \pm 6^b$	
Dielectric loss (at 1 MHz)	< 0.05	< 0.05	
Voltage tolerance (V)	28 ± 5^c	44 ± 4^c	
Leakage current density (A/cm^2)	$3.20^*10^-6^d$	$1.19^*10^-7^d$	
^a Measured at 1 MHz			
b Measured at 1 kHz			
$^c \rm Voltage$ tolerance at 10 $\mu \rm A/cm^2$			
d Current density at 20 V			



Figure 2.6: Frequency dependent capacitance plot



Figure 2.7: Frequency dependent relative dielectric constant and loss tangent



Figure 2.8: (a) I-V characteristic of BST device (b) I-V characteristic of BST/parylene-C composite device (c) Voltage binning data at 10 A/cm2 (d) Current binning data at 20V

Chapter 3

Electromigration and its Effect on Field Tolerance

3.1 Introduction

Thin film metal oxide nanoparticle/polymer composites have been extensively examined as an attractive solution for printable and solution-deposited high-k dielectrics. The use of high-k ceramic nanoparticles allows for the formation of a room temperature deposited, solution processed high dielectric constant film without the need for chemical conversion or high temperature sintering. The polymer matrix used in such systems fills the interstitial voids, leading to a higher effective dielectric permittivity, and also passivates the surface states of the nanoparticles, reducing the dielectric loss.[54] These materials have been applied to a number of large area and flexible electronic devices including use as gate dielectrics in thin film transistors, dielectric films in thin film capacitors, and integration into energy storage devices.[51][52][53][55][76][77]

The solution processability and low temperature processing conditions used to create these composites are especially well suited for large area roll-to-roll fabrication, and are of particular interest for large capacitance, high frequency power management

devices.[56] Printable (Ba,Sr)TiO₃(BST)/parylene-C polymer/metal oxide composite capacitors exhibit a field strength, frequency, and loss performance competitive with multilayer ceramic capacitors (MLCCs), while offering a low temperature fabrication process and higher total capacitance values than available in MLCCs.[8] These composites also offer performance superior to the competing high-frequency/high capacitance technology, metallized polypropylene polymer film capacitors, including a higher operating frequency, greater dielectric constant, and higher temperature capability.[54][58]

In many capacitor systems, (e.g. ceramic and electrolytic capacitors) the breakdown process leads to runaway damage that destroys the capacitor. In self-healing systems, such as polymer film and ceramic nanoparticle/polymer composites, the point of breakdown is not well-defined. The breakdown process is typically selflimiting, and destruction of the dielectric or electrodes limits the leakage observed in the device. Despite this uncertainty, however, it is possible to determine a voltage tolerance (i.e. the highest practical voltage at which the device can be operated with some low failure rate) by qualifying device samples according to leakage current density.[72] The leakage current in self-healing systems, which typically exhibit filamentary defects, follows a Fowler-Nordheim tunneling characteristic.[66][67] Surface modification can suppress the leakage current in filament-forming capacitor systems and is one accepted approach to improving the voltage tolerance.[8][61][60][62]

The composition and surface condition of the electrodes influence the electrical properties of the capacitors. [78][66][67][69][79] The two major factors that have been demonstrated to have major impact on the Fowler-Nordheim emission type leakage are the surface roughness and the work function. It has been shown, for example, that the surface roughness plays a significant role in the leakage characteristic, and that rougher electrode surfaces reduce the voltage at which the leakage occurs due to the formation of field enhancing asperities. [68] The tunneling current, which is caused by field emission from the electrode surface, is barrier dependent. The work function

of the electrodes therefore also influences the leakage and breakdown field strength of the device.[69][70][71]

Two major classes of failure mechanisms have been proposed for thin film capacitors: filament formation [80] and local conversion of the dielectric to a conducting form.[81]. In bulk BT dielectrics, failure due to both mechanisms has been observed. Failure at fields and temperatures much lower than the electrical or thermal breakdown value of the bulk material has been observed due to oxygen vacancy diffusion. The presence of oxygen vacancies in significant concentration in the bulk BT can cause additional electron injection to compensate for the accumulation of vacancies at the cathode under an applied DC electric field.[82] Other possible alternative failure mechanisms include the formation conducting paths due to surface charge, free charge absorption from humidity, or pinholes.

In devices that exhibit a filamentary failure mechanism, the electromigration parameter of the electrode material is a factor that can affect the field strength tolerance of the capacitor. [51] The electromigration parameter will determine the susceptibility of the electrode to filament formation. Once the filaments are formed, the leakage current increase from the field enhancement at the apex of the wire, and will continue to draw the metal out. The filament grows, increasing the field and current, ultimately leading to a runaway leakage process until Joule heating destroys the metal wire and heals the capacitor. The competing proposed mechanism is the formation of conducting paths in the dielectric, resulting in dielectric breakdown. In this situation, the conducting path is generally proposed to be formed by a change in the molecular structure of the dielectric associated with an interaction with the leakage current. In both cases, the work function is a crucial parameter in determining the breakdown field strength because the charge injection is directly associated with the barrier height. In the filamentary mechanism, the electromigration parameter also plays a significant role in determining the field tolerance, and understanding the influence of the electromigration parameter on leakage and field strength will provide

an additional path to device optimization.

The asymmetric structure of the BST/parylene-C capacitor is an ideal system with which to study the effect of the electrodes' electromigration parameter on capacitor performance. The top and bottom electrodes interface with different physical barriers, providing a controlled experimental environment in which to compare the same electric field on the dielectric with a passivated (parylene-C coated) surface, and a free (porous BST) electrode interface.[72] In this work, we use this asymmetrical relationship to investigate the correlation between voltage tolerance and electromigration susceptibility, while also examining the work function and the surface roughness contribution of the electrodes to the field tolerance of the device.

3.2 Structure and Fabrication Method

The capacitor tested is a 3 mm x 3 mm parallel plate structure with the composite $B_{0.7}S_{0.3}TiO_3$ /parylene-C material as the dielectric layer. The top and bottom electrodes are composed of the same metal in all cases. Gold, copper, chromium, aluminum, and silver were used as the electrode materials. Starting with a glass substrate, we thermally evaporated 5 nm of chromium as a wetting/adhesion layer and 40 nm of the electrode metal being investigated. The deposition conditions were tuned for each electrode material to provide a similar surface condition. We patterned the bottom electrodes via photolithography and wet etching. The nanoparticle solution consisted of 8 to 12 nm diameter $B_{0.7}S_{0.3}TiO_3$ nanoparticles uniformly dispersed in ethyl alcohol at a concentration of 20 mg/ml without surfactant.[8] We spin-coated the nanoparticle solution on top of the bottom electrodes to form the dielectric layer using a two-step dynamic spinning process. The solution is dispensed during the first spin step at 500 rpm for 15 seconds, and the second spin step was run at 1000 rpm for 45 seconds. After drying each layer, the spin-coat process was repeated four times to compose the desired thickness of the dielectric. Parylene-C was vapor deposited on

top of the BST film via chemical vapor deposition after a 12 hour bake at 80 °C to remove residual solvents.[72][83] This process results in an overlapping BST/parylene-C composite layer, with a total thickness of approximately 300 nm. The top electrode is thermally deposited with a shadow mask to complete the device. The complete device stack and the cross section of a single device are shown in Fig. 6.1.

3.3 Testing Method

The capacitance and loss of the device were measured using an Agilent 4294 impedance analyzer with a 42941A active impedance probe. The polymer film capacitors exhibit a self-healing behavior, where the local degradation of electrodes occurs during a local failure that results in the recovery of the capacitor. A definite breakdown voltage is therefore difficult to define. [65] As an alternative, voltage tolerance is established using a threshold leakage current density above which the device is considered to fail. A safety factor (typically between 1/2 and 1/5th the maximum voltage) is then applied to define a safe operating voltage. This leakage current density corresponds to a current density greater than acceptable for the application, but less than the current density associated with the healing process. In our test, we measure the I-V characteristic of each capacitor from 0 V to 80 V. The step size is 0.8 V and the integration time is 250 ms. A positive bias is defined as applying positive voltage on the bottom electrode, using the top electrode as the ground reference. The leakage current density is chosen so that the device is biased well below the level of catastrophic failure or healing action of the electrodes. In this experiment 10 μ A/cm² is used. The voltage tolerance test is performed on 32 devices per substrate via a switch matrix system (Keithley 7001) and source measurement unit (Keithley 2400) with an automated LabView program. The capacitors are connected to the switch matrix system via flex circuit which eliminates damage to the capacitors due to probing. Previous studies have shown that the metal ion migration process can be enhanced due to high humidity [84] [85]; therefore, all of our electrical tests were conducted under ambient conditions.

The thickness of the dielectric layer varies slightly due to both process variation and the surface energy of each electrode material, which affects the wetting of the nanoparticles; therefore, the voltage tolerance is normalized with the thickness of the dielectric film to obtain the field tolerance. The dielectric thickness and the surface roughness are measured using contact profilometry and atomic force microscopy.

3.4 Result and Discussion

The dielectric and electrode characteristics of the BST/parylene-C composite capacitor with different metal electrodes are summarized in Table 3.1. The dielectric thickness varies between 300 - 400 nm, and the effective composite relative dielectric constant k is approximately 13 at 10 kHz for each case. The frequency dependent relative dielectric constant is shown in Fig. 3.2. Our data show similar k values and frequency stability to previously reported devices fabricated using the same approach.[8][72] The pure parylene-C dielectric devices have higher breakdown field ranging from 500 to 2500 MV/m depending on the thickness of the film.[86][87] This is higher than our composite film; the dielectric constant of the parylene-C capacitor, however, is much lower leading to a smaller overall energy density for the system.

The field tolerance is investigated at a leakage current density of 10 μ A/cm² under positive and negative bias conditions. The positive bias field tolerance is higher than the negative bias field tolerance, consistent with previous results.[72] The silver, aluminum, gold, copper, and chromium electrode devices show 64 %, 29 %, 28 %, 17 %, 33 %, improvement in field tolerance, respectively when comparing the positive biased condition to the negative biased condition. This result demonstrates that the different physical barrier resulting from the two dielectric/electrode interfaces plays a significant role in the field tolerance.

Field tolerance is plotted against electrode metal and its electromigration parameter in Fig. 3.3. A larger magnitude of the electromigration parameter, an indication of higher susceptibility to electromigration effects, results in lower field tolerance. The plot shows a similar trend for both positive and negative bias conditions. The bias polarity dependence indicates that the parylene-C interface to the top electrode has a higher resistance to filament formation than the free surface at the bottom interface. Once the filament is formed, the enhanced field leads to larger leakage. The increased leakage current continues to draw out the filament which, if continued, ultimately leads to local failure from Joule heating. The field tolerance of the capacitor exhibits an 89 % (31.7 MV/m) increase for positive bias condition and 350 % (44.5 MV/m) increase for negative bias condition when employing copper instead of silver as the electrode. The magnitude of the electromigration parameter of copper is lower than that of silver by 15.5. An additional 3.4 MV/m increase in the field tolerance under positive bias is observed when chromium, which is even less susceptible to electromigration, is used instead of copper as the electrode material.

It is possible that the movement of oxygen vacancies also contributes to the observed breakdown in these devices.[82] The BST nanoparticles used are synthesized by a solvothermal method at low temperature under an -OH rich environment and the native presence of oxygen vacancies, which is essential for this failure mode, is expected to be low.[89] The introduction of the polymer layer into the dielectric also passivates the surface states and has been demonstrated to reduce the contribution due to surface conduction, pinholes, and moisture ingress.[8]

The capacitor leakage is non-ohmic in nature and dominated by Fowler-Nordheim tunneling. [74][73][75] Two other possible contributing characteristics of the electrodes, the work function and surface roughness, were also examined. Other groups have shown a significant work function dependence on capacitor leakage and breakdown. [70] The magnitude of the tunneling current in a Fowler-Nordheim system is dependent both on the barrier height of the system and the strength of the field applied. The

field tolerance and the work function are shown in Fig. 3.4a. The field tolerance of the devices examined appear to have little or no correlation with the work function. The thick dielectric layer in our system may reduce the field away from the filament, leading to a smaller contribution of the work function to current transport. The electrodes in our system are relatively smooth and are deposited using a wetting layer and thermal evaporation. This yields a similar surface characteristic among samples and minimizes the surface roughness contribution. The RMS and Rmax values of each electrode are shown in Table 3.1. The plot of field tolerance and surface roughness is shown in Fig. 3.4b. The plots show a slight positive correlation between the surface roughness and the field tolerance.[66][67][68] Electrode asperities associated with surface roughness can also form the initial sites for filament formation.

3.5 Conclusion

We investigated the effect of the electromigration parameter on the field tolerance of nanoparticle BST/parylene-C composite capacitors. The fabrication process is tuned to yield similar surface conditions to ensure that the contribution of surface roughness is as similar as possible from each electrode. The influence of work function is also investigated to verify that the electromigration parameter is the dominant contributing factor. This correlation holds for both the free electrode interface and surfaces that have been coated with the composite polymer filler. This work demonstrates that tuning the electromigration parameter is a crucial consideration for improving voltage tolerance, and should be considered together with the traditional approaches to improving breakdown performance by engineering the work function and reducing surface roughness. This observation offers an additional route to performance optimization for thin film inorganic/organic composite capacitors.



Figure 3.1: Schematic cross section of the BST/parylene-C composite capacitor on a glass substrate (top). The dielectric thickness is approximately 300 nm, and the top electrode serves as the reference electrode. The same metal is used for the top and bottom electrodes, with the exception of a thin chromium adhesion/wetting layer applied to the glass prior to deposition of the bottom electrode. The parylene coating partially penetrates the nanoparticle film. The deposition is self-limiting; parylene initially fills the voids between the nanoparticles until a solid composite is formed and deposition proceeds on the surface. The fabricated capacitor array is also shown on the bottom. The electrodes are outside of the active region which minimizes the damage during the testing.



Figure 3.2: This figure shows the frequency dependent relative dielectric constant (top group) and the loss tangent (bottom group) of the BST/parylene-C capacitors with silver, aluminum, gold, copper, and chromium electrodes. The high resistivity of the chromium electrodes leads to an unusually large effective series resistance (ESR), leading to an electrode-limited frequency response. In general, the electrode material has minimal influence on the dielectric property.

	Ag	Al	Au	Cu	\mathbf{Cr}
Delectric	BST/Pary-C	BST/Pary-C	BST/Pary-C	BST/Pary-C	BST/Pary-C
Material					
Delectric	340 ± 20	400 ± 20	380 ± 20	380 ± 20	300 ± 20
Thickness (nm)					
\mathbf{k}^{a}	12.6	14.1	13.2	14	13.3
$\mathbf{Capacitance}^{a}$	32.5	31.1	30.9	32.7	39.1
Density (nF/cm^2)					
Field	35.5^{c}	51.8^{c}	54.1^{c}	67.2^{c}	70.6^{c}
Tolerance $(MV/m)^b$	12.7^{d}	40.3^{d}	42.3^{d}	57.2^{d}	47.1^{d}
Electromigration	-21	-12	-8	-5.5	$_e$
Parameter[88]					
Work	4.52	4.06	5.1	4.53	4.5
Function (eV)					
Electrode	40	40	40	40	40
Thickness (nm)					
Electrode	RMS: 3.94	RMS: 4.42	RMS: 3.24	RMS: 2.81	RMS: 3.05
Roughness (nm)	Rmax: 26.6	Rmax: 12.6	Rmax: 20.7	Rmax: 20.9	Rmax: 17.3

Table 3.1: Dielectric and Electrode Properties

 a Measured at 10 kHz

 $^b\mathrm{Field}$ Tolerance at 10 $\mu\mathrm{A/cm^2}$

 c Forward Bias

 $^d\mathrm{Reverse}$ Bias

 e The electromigration parameter for chromium does not appear to be reported in the literature.



Figure 3.3: The field tolerance of BST/parylene-C composite capacitors plotted against the electromigration parameter of the silver, aluminum, gold, and copper electrodes. The electromigration parameter for chromium does not appear to be reported in the literature and is plotted outside the group.



Figure 3.4: Field Tolerance of the BST/parylene-C composite capacitors plotted against a) Work Function and b) Surface Roughness of the silver, aluminum, gold, copper, and chromium electrodes.

Chapter 4

Mechanical Properties and Reliability

Understanding the mechanical properties are vital for flexible electronic devices as the devices may be subjected certain physical condition during roll-to-roll fabrication process and also during operation. The mechanical properties of the device indicate the physical conditions which the device can tolerate. In this section, we present the test result for fracture toughness, hardness (Youngs modulus), and adhesion of the fabricated capacitors. We will also demonstrate the reliability of the fabricated capacitors through age and elevated tests.

4.1 Fracture Toughness Test

The fracture toughness test determines the amount of strain the meta-capacitor can withstand before cracking occur either in the electrode or the dielectric layer. The cracking of the metal leads to dramatic decrease in the capacitance, and the cracking of the dielectric leads to shorting of the device. Hence, the change in resistance and/or capacitance before and after applying the strain indicates the failure. The device was subjected to strain by bending the sample around the cylinders with the radius of 2 cm, 5 cm, 10 cm, and 50 cm which correspond to strain of 0.438 %, 0.175 %, 0.0872 %, and 0.0174 % respectively. The test setup and method is shown in Fig. 4.1. The result of a single device is shown in the table below (Table 4.1). Multiple devices were tested, and the meta-capacitors show no sign of failure after applying up to 0.438 % of strain.



Figure 4.1: Test setup and method for fracture toughness

4.2 Hardness and Youngs Modulus

The hardness and Youngs modulus test determines the elastic property of the dielectric films. The hardness and Youngs modulus measurements are taken using a nanoindenter. The data taken for the meta-capacitor dielectric layer is shown in Fig. 4.2. The nanoindentation test consists of three parts. First part is the indentation, and the hardness is recorded at the peak load on sample. The second part is the

Bending radius (cm)	Strain	Capacitance (nF)	Resistance (ohm)
-	0	380	O.L.
50	0.0174 %	380	O.L.
10	0.0872~%	380	O.L.
5	0.175~%	380	O.L.
2	0.438~%	380	O.L.

Table 4.1: Result for fracture toughness test

10 sec hold at peak load on sample which indicates the elastic deformation of the dielectric film. The last part is the elastic recovery in which the youngs modulus is extracted. The hardness of our dielectric film is 0.352 GPa, and the youngs modulus is 32.9 GPa. The results are shown in Table 4.2 in comparison to the silica standard. This result shows that our materials is much softer and more elastic than silica.

 Table 4.2: Nano-indentation result

	Composite film	Silica
Hardness (GPa)	0.352	6.65
Young's Modulus (GPa)	32.9	70.9

4.3 Adhesion Test

The adhesion test measures the resistance of the thin film capacitor to separation from the substrate. The test method is based on ASTM 3359 method B for thin films with thickness less than 250 μ m. The capacitor is scribed to form a 5 x 5 square grid with line separation of 1 mm, shown in Fig. 4.3, and the adhesion is tested by pulling the grid area with 3M magic tape (shown in Fig. 4.4). The device exhibits class 5B adhesion as almost none of the grid area was removed during the test. The



Figure 4.2: The data for hardness test on BST + parylene film

classification table is shown in Table 4.6[90], and the zoomed in grid before and after the tape test is shown in Fig. 4.5.

4.4 Age Test and Reliability

Aging tests were conducted on metacapacitors fabricated on flexible substrates under 50 V bias at 125 C. The capacitors were fabricated using the spray-coating process with thermally evaporated copper electrodes. The electrodes are 400 nm thick. The bottom electrodes are lithographically patterned, and the top electrodes are patterned using a shadow mask. This switch matrix structure, shown in Fig. 4.7, enabled



Figure 4.3: Grid for Adhesion test

statistical analysis of the sample. The fabricated capacitors were pre-conditioned with a slow ramp at 1 V/s up to 50 V and held at 50 V for the age test at 125 C for 1100 hours. The capacitances of both the biased and unbiased devices were measured every 100 hours at room temperature to determine the condition of the capacitors.

The complete 1100 hour test is shown in Fig. 4.8. There is a 43 % drop in capacitance during the first 100 hours of the age test for both the biased and the unbiased capacitors. The fact that the capacitance drop occurred in both the biased and unbiased capacitors suggests that the FA continues to polymerize in the dielectric layer. The capacitance is stabilized after the first 100 hours. The capacitances for both the biased devices exhibit less than 5 % variation during the subsequent 1000h test. The initial leakage of the capacitors is 800 nA/cm2. However, the leakage decreases during the first 400 hours of the age test. The leakage is 160 nA/cm² at the end of the first 400 hours and stabilizes thereafter.

4.5 Conclusion

Mechanical properties are vital for flexible electronic devices as the devices may be subjected certain physical condition during roll-to-roll fabrication process and also during operation. The mechanical properties of the device indicate the physical conditions which the device can tolerate. We have demonstrated that the fabricated



Figure 4.4: The tape test method



Figure 4.5: Adhesion test result

devices can tolerate more than 0.4 % strain with superior adhesion to flexible substrate. In addition, the fabricated capacitor exhibits less than 1 % delta in capacitance during the 100 hour age test and does not go though a phase transition that leads to significant capacitance change with in the temperature range of interest.

CLASSIFICATION OF ADHESION TEST RESULTS			
CLASSIFICATION	PERCENT AREA REMOVED	SURFACE OF CROSS-CUT AREA FROM WHICH FLAKING IIAS OCCURRED FOR SIX PARALLEL CUTS AND ADHESION RANGE BY PERCENT	
58	0% None		
4B	Less than 5%		
3B	5 - 15%		
28	15 - 35%		
18	35 - 65%		
08	Greater than 65%		

Figure 4.6: ASTM 3359 Table



Figure 4.7: Age test sample designed to be interfaced with 7001 switch matrix system to obtain statistical data.



Figure 4.8: Age test conducted at elevated temperature over 1100 hours.
Part II

Printed OTFT Optimization

Chapter 5

Pneumatic Printing Method

5.1 Introduction

Pneumatic printing process simultaneously enables patterning and deposition of multiple materials. This approach has particular application to the fabrication of organic thin film transistors with high performance and yield, but can also be applied to other material systems that are printed including insulators, metals, and active elements. The technique is also capable of depositing multiple materials on the same substrate.

There are many other printing techniques that have been studied extensively for printing electronic such as inkjet printing, screen printing, and gravure printing. Inkjet printing utilizes a printhead with piezoelectric crystals to deposit desired materials on a substrate via droplets.[91] The solution forms meniscus at the end of the printhead, and with precise control over the mechanical movement of the piezoelectric material through electrical signal (usually periodic), the droplets form and ejected from the printhead tip. The advantage of using inkjet printing method is precise control over the droplet formation and deposition. The droplet size is determined by the printhead nozzle diameter and the waveform. The thickness of the deposited materials depends on the printing conditions and the solution concentration. Inkjet printing method enables the ability to achieve moderately hight resolution (5 - 20 um) and thickness control down to around 100 nm. The disadvantage of the inkjet printing methods are 1) nozzle clogging tend to occur when printing high viscosity materials such as organic dielectrics due to deposition via droplets, 2) the thickness and uniformity of the printed film is difficult to control due to coffee ring effect (complicated method can be used is solvent and anti-solvent to improve uniformity), 3) aligned crystal growth is not possible. Screen printing offers patterned deposition through openings on the printing screens. Thick layer (> 10 um) deposition can be achieved through screen printing with good uniformity. Additionally, solution wide range of viscosity can be deposited. The main limitations of the screen printing method are low resolution (> 100 um), and inability to control crystal growth for organic semiconductor. Therefore, the screen printing method is suitable technique for printing electrode materials and dielectrics due to its ability to deposit highly viscous materials and pattern. (citation for screen printing). Gravure printing can achieve patterning with recesses and surface relief on the surface of the master, and this printing technique allows for thickness control over wider range (1 to 8 um) with high resolution less than 20 um. The main advantage of using gravure printing is the high quality layer, superior reproducibility and throughput. However, there are a few disadvantages associated with gravure printing as well. First, the initial cost is high due to patterned cylinder manufacturing, and each customization or alteration of design require additional master. Second, the multi-material deposition require materialsolvent compatibility consideration as the new solution can contact the previously deposited patterns. Third, as with inkjet and screen printing methods, the control over crystal growth such as alignment is not possible. Some of the solution-based deposition techniques to achieve aligned crystal growth for organic semiconductor will be discussed in detail in the next chapter.

The main advantages of pneumatic printing technique over the other printing techniques such as inkjet, screen printing, and gravure printing, therefore, are 1) simple set-up and process, 2) multi-material layered deposition applicable to wide range of solution viscosity, 3) control over crystal growth. The manipulation of crystal growth will be discussed in the next chapter. This method for performance optimization and patterning has great potential for advancing printed electronics.

5.2 Pneumatic Printing Process

Fig. 5.1 shows the set-up for the pneumatic printing process. The syringe and the needle serve as the solution reservoir and the printing nozzle. The reservoir is interfaced with EFD pressure controller to provide vacuum and forward pressure. The Bluefox camera is there to enable alignment of different deposition layers. Springloaded sample holder allows for levelling of the sample, and it is equipped with a thin film heater not shown) for substrate temperature control. The camera, sample holder, and the syringe are interfaced with a 3D stage to control the position and printing motion. Custom LabView program was written to navigate the printing process. Fig. 5.2 illustrates the pneumatic printing steps. The printing process starts of with positioning the nozzle to the desired position with 3D stage, and lowering the nozzle to specific printing height, h, shown in Fig. 5.2 (1). An appropriate level of vacuum is applied to the reservoir to both keep the solution from dripping out, and to suspend the meniscus. A forward pressure is then applied for a short period of time, typically 10 - 20 ms, to contact the meniscus to the substrate surface shown in Fig. 5.2 (2). At this moment the capillary force keeps the meniscus attach to the surface even after applying the forward pressure and same level of vacuum is applied as before. The nozzle starts the printing with defined direction with defined printing speed, and the solution is drawn out of the nozzle via capillary action as shown in Fig. 5.2 (3). Once the desired printing is done, the nozzle is raised to a height greater than the printing height, h, to separate the meniscus contact with the substrate. A trace of desired material has been drawn on the substrate. The key parameter such as the vacuum, forward pressure, printing height, substrate temperature and printing height will dictate the morphology and pattern of the printed material.

5.3 Printing Electrode

Silver electrodes were printed to demonstrate the applicability of pneumatic printing process for printing conductive materials. The 3D illustration of the silver electrode printing process is shown in Fig. 5.3 (a) - (d). The printing process is as described in previous section - (a) Lower the nozzle to printing heigh, h. (b) A forward pressure is then applied for 10 ms to establish contact between the meniscus and the substrate surface. (c) The 3D stage initiates printing with defined direction at specified printing speed. (d) Once the desired printing is done, the nozzle is raised to a height greater than the printing height, h, to separate the meniscus contact with the substrate. The width of the printed electrodes are determined by the gauge/diameter of the nozzle. In our case, the printed electrode width is around 300 um. The smallest line spacing achieved is 30 - 45 um, and this is limited by the step size of the 3D stage. Continuous conductive silver film with smooth edge can be printed as shown in Fig. 5.4. The smooth edge of the printed electrodes is particularly advantageous in printed thin film transistor application as it results in well defined channel width and length. Fifteen devices were fabricated to study the repeatability and control of the printed silver electrodes. The fabricated source, drain, gate device, shown in Fig. 5.5, have average channel length of 100 ± 11 um.

5.4 Printed Inverter

The performance of the organic semiconductor based printed thin film transistors has increased dramatically in the past few years, and their potential in integrated circuits and flat-panel display is apparent. One of the most basic and essential building blocks in those complementary digital circuit applications is the inverter. Therefore, fully-printed organic TFT inverters with pneumatically printed source, drain and gate electrodes, and drop-casted organic semiconductor are fabricated to demonstrate the feasibility of employing the pneumatic printing technique for advancing printed electronics.

5.5 Fabrication Method

For sample preparation, the PET substrates were cut into 5 cm x 5 cm size. The square PET samples are cleaned with acetone, IPA, and DI water. The gate electrodes are printed using the pneumatic printing method described from the section earlier followed by an hour post bake at 100 \circ C. Then 1 um of parylene is deposited on the samples as the gate dielectric. HMDS spin-coated on the parylene to increase pinning of the silver ink. The source and drain electrodes are printed using the pneumatic printing method followed by an hour post bake at 100 °C. TIPS-pentacene (10mg/ml in Tetralin) and DPP-CN (10mg/ml in chlorobenzene) are then drop-casted on their respective S/D area followed by 15 min bake at 90 $^{\circ}$ C. The channel length is 100 μm and the channel widths are 2000 μm and 4000 μm for p-type and n-type channel respectively. The cross-section of the printed TFT is shown in Fig. 5.6 a). The microscope image of the printed S/D/G electrodes for the p-type and the n-type devices are shown in Fig. 5.6 b) and c) respectively. The p-type 2000 μ m channel width devices have average channel length of $104.4 \pm 12.5 \ \mu m$, and the n-type 4000 μm channel width devices have average channel length of 97 \pm 8 μm . The top-view of the complete inverter is shown in Fig. 5.6 d).

All the electrical characterizations were conducted in ambient environment using Keithley 2400 source measuring unit interfaced with Labview.

5.6 Result and Discussion

The inverter structure in shown in Fig. 5.7. In order to have a symmetric transition between the on and off state, the on-current of the p- and the n- type transistor needs to be matched. Diketopyrrolopyrrole-cyanovinylene-4-nitrophenyl (DPP-CN) and TIPS-pentacene are chosen to be the n-type and p-type material respectively. The typical transfer characteristics of the printed electrode TFT with drop-casted organic semiconductor for both p- and n-type devices are shown in Fig. 5.8. As we can see from the IV plot, the on-current of the TIPS-pentacene transistor is about 2x of that of the DPP-CN device. Therefore, the optimal channel width ratio for the inverter is 2:1 (width of the n-type channel to that of the p-type).

In an ideal inverter, the high and low V_{out} should be close to Vdd and ground respectively. The transfer characteristic of the fabricated inverter is shown in Fig. 5.9 a). The Vdd is 40 V in this case. When input voltage is low (< 15 V) the output voltage of 40 V is obtained. The output voltage is decreased to 0 V when the input voltage increased above 15 V. The maximum gain, which is the steepness of the transition region of the inverter characteristic, we obtained was 15.9, and V_M , the voltage midpoint, is about 15 V. The transfer characteristics of 7 inverters are shown in Fig. 5.9 b) to illustrate the process variation in the inverter fabrication. The average gain and standard deviation of the devices are summarized in Table 5.1. The average gain is 10 and the standard deviation is 1.24. The results show that the pneumatic printing technique can be employed to fabricate inverter with fairly uniform characteristics.

Table 5.1: Average gain and V_m of the printed inverter

	Gain	$\mathbf{V}_m \; (@ \max { m gain})$
Average	10.03	24.4
ST Dev	1.24	2.87



Figure 5.1: Pneumatic printer set-up. The syringe and the needle serve as the solution reservoir and the printing nozzle. The reservoir is interfaced with EFD pressure controller to provide vacuum and forward pressure. The Bluefox camera is there to enable alignment of different deposition layers. Spring-loaded sample holder allows for levelling of the sample, and it is equipped with a thin film heater (not shown) for substrate temperature control. The camera, sample holder, and the syringe are interfaced with a 3D stage to control the position and printing motion.



Figure 5.2: Illustration of the pneumatic printing process. 1). An appropriate level of vacuum is applied to the reservoir to both keep the solution from dripping out, and to suspend the meniscus. 2) A forward pressure is then applied for a short period of time, typically 10 - 20 ms, to contact the meniscus to the substrate surface. At this moment the capillary force keeps the meniscus attach to the surface even after applying the forward pressure and same level of vacuum is applied as before. 3) The nozzle starts the printing with defined direction with defined printing speed, and the solution is drawn out of the nozzle via capillary action. Once the desired printing is done, the nozzle is raised to a height greater than the printing height, h, to separate the meniscus contact with the substrate. A trace of desired material has been drawn on the substrate.



Figure 5.3: Printing process of silver electrode. a) Lower the nozzle to printing heigh, h. b) A forward pressure is then applied for 10 ms to establish contact between the meniscus and the substrate surface. c) The 3D stage initiates printing with defined direction at specified printing speed. d) Once the desired printing is done, the nozzle is raised to a height greater than the printing height, h, to separate the meniscus contact with the substrate.



Figure 5.4: Printed silver electrode. Repeated pattern with 300 $\mu \rm m$ electrode width and 45 $\mu \rm m$ spacing



Figure 5.5: Printed silver SD and G electrode with average channel length of 100 \pm 11 um.



Figure 5.6: Structure of the printed TFT. a) Cross-section of the TFT b) Top view of fabricated SDG structure with dielectric before p-type semiconductor deposition c) Top view of fabricated SDG structure with dielectric before n-type semiconductor deposition d) Top view of the complete inverter structure



Figure 5.7: Circuit diagram of the inverter



Figure 5.8: Output characteristic of the printed TFT. a) p-type TIPS-pentacene b) n-type DPP-CN



Figure 5.9: Output characteristic of the printed 2:1 inverter. a) Transfer curve of inverter with gain of 15.9 b) Transfer curve of 7 devices.

Chapter 6

Small Molecule Semiconductor Crystal Growth Manipulation via Pneumatic Printing Process

6.1 Introduction

While the classical inorganic semiconductors are the main steam materials for current technology platform due to their superior transport characteristics, the performance of the transistors incorporating solution-processed organic semiconductor materials have improved significantly over the last few years. Solution printing techniques employed to deposit organic semiconductors such as inkjet printing and blade coating can be extend to roll-to-roll fabrications to achieve near ambient condition process. The large-area and potentially high through-put deposition enable by solution printing can pave the way to realize more energy-efficient and cost-effective production of flexible electronics.[92] The main challenge to achieve high performance is the ability to control the thin film morphology is a precise manner. The solution-processed organics semiconductor thin film morphology is strongly dependent on the deposition process, and, in turn, significantly impacts the device performance. In this chapter, the details of how the pneumatic printing process can be employed to control the organic semiconductor crystal growth will be discussed.

The parameter that is widely regarded as the metric or standard defining the high performance of a given electronics devices, such as organic FETs, is the charge carrier mobility. The mobility is the measure of how fast the electrons or holes (carriers) can travel through the media under applied electric field. The mobility dictates the rate of transport in the active layer, and thus, is responsible of the current conduction characteristics. Many factors can influence the charge carriers transport characteristics. Marcus theory, shown in equation 6.1, is a widely used theory to describe the charge transport in the organic semiconductors. [93] Where k_{ET} is the charge carrier transfer, T is the temperature, t is the transfer integral, λ is the reorganization energy, h and k_B are the Planck and Boltzmann constants respectively. The theory predicts that the orbital overlap (transfer integral) and the reorganization energy are vital to determining the carrier mobility. Therefore, any process that can modify the crystal structure and packing of the organic semiconductor layer will influence the orbital overlap and, thus, the mobility [94][93][95] While there are many types of printing technique employed to enhance charge transport in the solutionprocess organic semiconductors, there are two main strategies to control the deposited thin film morphology, as described by Diao at el[92], 1) Control of nucleation and 2) Control of crystal growth.

$$k_{ET} = \frac{4\pi^2}{h} \frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi k_B T}} t^2 exp(-\frac{\lambda}{4k_B T})$$
(6.1)

Nucleation and crystal growth are, fundamentally, the two steps involved in the crystallization of organic semiconductor materials. Nucleation requires overcoming an intrinsically stochastic free energy barrier.[96] Therefore, without controlled nucleation, the crystals obtained will have random distribution of size and boundaries.

The crystal structure integrity, level of crystallinity, and basic qualities of the crystal are dictated by the crystal growth. The crystal quality have a direct impact on the transport property; therefore, controlling the crystal growth is the key to improve charge carrier mobility.

Minemawari et al. have shown that both nucleation and crystal control can be realized by using the inkjet printed platform.[20] The solvent and antisovent method in which anitisovent was deposited in a defined area prior to the deposition of the semiconductor solution. The crystallization initiates on the surface first and covers the entire surface of the droplet. As the solvent evaporates the crystal remains. This deposition method combined with nucleation control by asymmetry in solution volume, where the differential volume resulting from asymmetrical pattern is used to induce nucleation at the lower solution volume area, high mobility ($30 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$) with C8-BTBT is achieved. The disadvantage of this method is that, even though single crystal can be obtained with relatively high yield (50 %), the orientation of the crystal can not be precisely controlled.

Hallow pen printing and hallow capillary printing method developed by Headrick et al. and Wo et al. utilizes meniscus-guided coating technique to achieve aligned crystal growth.[97][98] The meniscus-guided coating process employs linear translation of substrate or coating tool to induce oriented crystal growth. Headrick et al. and Wo et al. used hallow glass stylus to deposit TIPS-pentacene solution, and were able to show grain size dependency on writing speed and substrate temperature. The highest mobility achieved with this method with TIPS-pentacene is around 0.8 $\rm cm^2/Vs$. The disadvantages of utilizing this method is that deposition of high and low viscosity solution is difficult due to lack of pressure control. The control over printing height is also not possible as it requires some control over the meniscus size.

Solution shearing is another meniscus-guided coating that can simultaneously control nucleation and crystal growth.[99][100] This printing process utilizes a tilted shearing blade to sandwich the organic semiconductor solution between the heated

substrate to prevent exposure of the whole solution to air. This topology limits the air-solution interface to confine the solvent evaporation region. The shearing blade is then moved at a constant speed exposing the meniscus to allow deposition of aligned thin film. The technique developed by Diao et al.[16] demonstrated printed single crystal TIPS-pentacene with mobility greater than 10 cm²/Vs by further combining the patterned feature to both induce nucleation and eliminate undesired crystal growth and the flow-assisted crystallization . The flow-assisted crystallization employs patterned shearing blade to increase the mass transport via fluid re-flow to eliminate the void formation during crystal growth. The limitation of the solution shearing is difficulty in the multi-material deposition. The process spreads the solution over the whole substrate; therefore, deposition of subsequent material, i.e. different type of semiconductor for example, require consideration for solvent compatibility in addition to potential mechanical damage to the previously deposited film.

Pneumatic printing technique can potentially achieve seeding and crystal growth simultaneously when used to print organic semiconductor. The printing process is analogous to seeded super lateral growth in laser recrystallization technique used in silicon technology. The seeding is achieved due to the differential volume of the contact meniscus, and the aligned crystal growth is achieved by matching the crystal growth rate and defining the printing direction. The resulted printed crystals have highly aligned polycrystalline structure that are millimetre long. Furthermore since the solution is confined in deposition area, patterned deposition and multi-material (both n- and p-type semiconductor for instance) can be realized.

In summary, the main advantages of employing pneumatic printing technique for printing organic semiconductors over the other printing techniques, therefore, are 1) simple setup and process, 2) multi-material layered deposition applicable to wide range of solution viscosity, 3) control over crystal seeding and growth. This method for performance optimization and patterning has great potential for advancing printed electronics. In this study, the crystal growth manipulation achieved by pneumatic printing technique is the primary focus and is discussed in detail. Preliminary results for seeding is presented, but will require further study in the future.

6.2 Experimental

6.2.1 Materials

The TIPS-pentacene and C8-BTBT were used as received from Sigma-Aldrich without further purification. Phenyltrichlorosilane (PTS), (tridecafluoro-1, 1, 2, 2-tetrahydrooctyl) trichorosilane (TTT) and anhydrous-toluene were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich as well. Hihgly doped n-type silicon wafers with 300 nm thermal silicon oxide from SQI were used as the substrate.

6.2.2 Sample Preparation and Patterning

The cross-section of the printed TFT device is shown in Fig. 6.1. The Si/SiO₂ wafers were treated with PTS (immersing in 3 wt% in anhydrous-toluene) for 15 hours at 90 °C to ensure proper wetting of the organic semiconductor solution. The wafers were cleaned with toluene, acetone, and Isopropyl alcohol after the PTS treatment. Desired patterns on the surface were generated using photo-lithography. The PTS in the unwanted regions were removed by exposing the substrate to oxygen plasma (250 mmHg O₂, 100W) for 60 seconds after photo-resist development. The de-wetting surfaces were then formed by placing the substrate into a vacuum sealed dessicater with 15 μ l of TTT in a glass vial for 3 hours. The remaining photo-resist were removed by sonicating the substrate in acetone for 5 min.

6.2.3 Printing and Characterization

TIPS-pentacence solution was prepared at a concentration of 16 mg/ml in anhydroustoluene. The substrate was heated to desired temperature by the resistively heated

stage on the 3D XYZ robot (Janome JR 2200N mini). The TIPS-pentacene solution were loaded into the syringe, and 0.7 psi of vacuum was applied to avoid the solution from dripping. The printing height was controlled to be 80 μ m, and 0.7 psi forward pressure is applied before the printing to create meniscus contact between the nozzle and the substrate. The vacuum and forward pressure values were optimised based on the TIPS-pentacene solution concentration and solvent. The printing speed varied between 0.1 - 1.5 mm/s. During the printing, the meniscus stayed in contact with the substrate. The printing length varied from 2 - 4 mm depending on the device structure. The printed films were characterized using a cross-polarized optical microscope. The thickness and surface characterization were performed using tapping mode atomic force microscopy (AFM). The source and drain electrodes were patterned by metal stencil shadow mask and thermally evaporating 60 nm of gold. The channel length and width of our mask design is 100 μ m and 3000 μ m, respectively; however, the actual w of the device is 300 μ m due to the nozzle width. All the electrical characterizations were conducted in ambient environment using Keithley 2400 source measuring unit interfaced with Labview.



Figure 6.1: Cross-section of the printed TFT structure.

6.3 **Printing Parameters**

Pneumatic printing technique can achieve seeding and crystal growth simultaneously. The printing process for organic semiconductor is shown in Fig. 6.2. The pneumatic printing process is as described in section 5.2 in Chapter 5. **a**). An appropriate level of vacuum is applied to the reservoir to both keep the solution from dripping out, and to suspend the meniscus. **b**) A forward pressure is then applied for a short period of time, typically 10 - 20 ms, to contact the meniscus to the substrate surface. At this moment the capillary force keeps the meniscus attach to the surface even after applying the forward pressure and same level of vacuum is applied as before. **c**) The nozzle starts the printing with defined direction with defined printing speed, and the solution is drawn out of the nozzle via capillary action. **d**) Once the desired printing is done, the nozzle is raised to a height greater than the printing height, h, to separate the meniscus contact with the substrate.

All the key parameters that can influence the printing characteristics are shown in Table 6.1. The printed height is dependent on the viscosity of the solution, which is determined from the solvent used and the concentration, and the surface of the substrate. In this experiment, the printing height is fixed at 80 μ m as larger distance result in meniscus separation before the completion of printing. The vacuum and forward pressure is critical for the pneumatic printing process. The control over the meniscus is fundamentally dictated by the pressure applied. The differential pressure gives rise to the seeding for crystal growth, and the forward pressure and vacuum are both fixed at 0.7 psi which will give the differential pressure of 1.4 psi. The solution concentration depends on the solubility of the organic semiconductor used. The concentration is fixed at saturation which is 16 mg/ml for TIPS-pentacene in toluene. Saturated solution is used because in order to achieve well ordered alignment, high solution concentration (high nuclei density) is desirable.[92] The substrate temperature is dependent on the solvent used as it will dictate the solvent evaporation rate and in turn influence the formation of the supersaturation that results in solute precipitation. The temperature is fixed at 50 °C. The detailed analysis of the substrate temperature is discussed later in the chapter. The self-assembled monolayer (SAM) forms a wetting surface for the TIPS-pentacene solution and it is determined by the solvent used. Since toluene is used as the solvent, phenyl trichlorosilane (PTS) is used to ensure proper wetting. All of the above parameter will influence the optimal printing speed in which the highest mobility is achieved. The printing speed is varied to study the dependency of mobility on the printing speed with all other parameter kept at constant.

Parameter	Dependance	Optimal value	
Printing height	viscosity/surface	$80 \ \mu m$	
Pressure	Solvent/concentration	Fixed	
Concentration	solubility	oility 16 mg/ml	
Temperature	Solvent	$50 \ ^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$	
SAM	Solvent	PTS	
Printing speed	All of the above	Varied	

Table 6.1: Key parameters for pneumatic printing of TIPS-pentacene

6.4 Self-Assembled Monolayer Surface Treatment

The self-assembled monolayer (SAM) forms a wetting surface for the TIPS-pentacene solution and reduce surface traps.[15] Therefore, the quality of the SAM layer can have a significant impact on the crystal formed. The AFM image of good quality and poor quality SAM layers are shown in FIg. 6.3. The good quality SAM has surface roughness of 1.6 nm which is roughly the same as the substrate surface roughness. As expected, the crystal structures are significantly different depending on the quality of the underline SAM layer. The crystal grown on the poor quality SAM layer is shown in Fig. 6.4. The crystal structure is irregular with rough surface and zigzagged edge.

The crystal grown on the good quality SAM layer is shown in Fig. 6.5. The crystal structure is well defined with smooth surface and straight edge. The crystals formed on poor quality SAM are also much thinner. The thickness of the crystal on poor quality SAM is 76 nm compared to 190 nm on the good quality SAM. The crystal quality in turn dictates the electrical property. The Id vs Vg characteristics of TFTs made with both good and bad quality SAM are shown in FIg. 6.6. The carrier transport is much better with well defined crystal structure. Table 6.2 summarises the mobilities extracted from both SAM conditions. The mobility is about 2x higher with good quality SAM; therefore, it is important to ensure the quality of SAM layer to achieve high performance.

Table 6.2: Comparison of mobility with good and poor quality SAM layer

SAM condition	Max mobility	Avg mobility	stdev
Poor	0.16	0.13	0.03
Good	0.4	0.25	0.13

6.5 Printing Temperature

Substrate temperature is one of the most vital parameter that can influence the crystal growth when using a meniscus-guided deposition method. As the linear transition of the substrate or the nozzle initiates, the evolution and reshape of the solutionair interface or meniscus occurs. The Solvent evaporation occurs at this reshaped tail interface. The solution concentration increases as the solvent evaporates in this region, and the solute precipitates and deposits as crystal film when supersaturation in the solution is reached. The evaporation rate plays a pivotal role in establishing this supersaturation regime. The substrate temperature with respect to the solvent boiling point needs to be considered for optimal printing temperature. Fig. 6.7 shows the effect of substrate temperature have on the resulting crystal structure. At 40 °C, the supersaturated regime is not established as the boiling point of toluene is 120 °C. Therefore, the crystallization occurs after the drawing is completed. This similar to drop-casted method, and spherulitic crystal structures are formed. At 70 °C, the supersaturation regime and precipitation occur faster than the printing speed; therefore, discontinuous wave-front crystal structures are formed. It turns out that 50 °C is the optimal printing speed at which the supersaturation and crystallization can occur at a rate that matches our printing speed. The printing of TIPS-pentacene will be carried out at a fixed substrate temperature at 50 °C.

6.6 Solution Concentration

Another important parameter to consider is the solution concentration because the concentration will determine the nuclei density. The nuclei density can have a impact on nucleation site formation and also crystal growth from supersaturation of the solution. Saturated solution is used because in order to achieve well ordered alignment, high solution concentration (high nuclei density) is desirable.[92] Fig 6.8 shows the variation of crystal structures due to varied solution concentrations. As shown in Fig. 6.8 a), when solution concentration is lower, the decreased nuclei density leads reduced nucleation and seeding. Furthermore, supersaturation regime is more difficult to establish due to higher solvent ratio. Hence, spherulitic crystal structures are formed. Fig. 6.8 b) shows the polycrystalline crystal structure formed when saturated solution is used.

6.7 Result and Discussion

6.7.1 TIPS-pentacene Nucleation and Crystal Growth Manipulation

The nucleation of the seeds are formed due to the differential volume of the contact meniscus. The nucleation inducing process is composed of two steps: 1) Initial meniscus contact is formed during the period when forward pressure is applied for 10 ms. 2) Then vacuum is applied immediately, as described before, after the forward pressure. This difference in pressure results in differential volume of the initial contact meniscus and the contact meniscus when vacuum is applied. As a result, the contact area becomes smaller, and this retraction of meniscus creates nucleation and spherically oriented crystal growth that will serve as the seeds for further crystal growth. The exaggerated seeding feature, due to purposely increased forward pressure, is shown in Fig. 6.9. This result shows promising potential that the seeded nucleation can be achieved, but further study is needed to optimize and quantify the nucleation process.

Once the seeding is achieved, the guided-meniscus will facilitate the crystal growth in the printing direction. As mentioned before, after the linear transition of the substrate or the nozzle initiates, the evolution of the solution-air interface or meniscus occurs. The Solvent evaporation occurs at this reshaped tail interface. The solution concentration increases as the solvent evaporates in this region, and the solute precipitates and deposits as crystal film when supersaturation in the solution is reached. The alignment in the crystal growth is achieved by the inherent directionality of the linear motion guiding the meniscus.

Contrasted crystal structure image can be observed under the cross polarized optical microscope (CPOM). Fig 6.10 shows the cross polarized image of the printed TIPS-pentacene crystal via pneumatic method. Well aligned crystal structure is observed. When looking at the crystal domain in the boxed region in Fig. 6.10 a), the crystal domain extinguished polarized light almost completely when rotated about 45° shown in Fig 6.10 b). The intensity change indicates that the crystal domain formed is well aligned.

6.7.2 Printed TIPS-pentacene Mobility

During the TIPS-pentacene pneumatic printing process, the dragged meniscus exposes the solution front, and the printing speed dictates the shape of the exposed solution-air interface. The shape of the interface depends on the printing speed, and the printing speed have significant impact on the structure of the crystal formed. As discussed in the earlier section, the charged carrier transport is largely dictated by the structure and quality of the crystal film. Therefore, the mobility of the printed film will strongly depend on the printing speed. Fig. 6.11 a) - f) shows the cross-polarized optical microscope images demonstrating the thin film crystal structure and thin film texture dependency on the printing speed, varying from 1 mm/s to 0.1 mm/s. At high printing speed (1 mm/s and 0.8 mm/s), the oriented micrometer wide needle like TIPS-pentacene domains are obtained with length of few hundreds of micrometers. When printing speed is significantly lower (less than 0.2 mm/s), the crystal domains becomes thicker but discontinued. This is because the supersaturation regime and precipitation occur faster than the printing speed; therefore, discontinuous piece-wise crystal domains are formed. Between printing speed of 0.6 mm/s and 0.2 mm/s, the tens of micrometer wide TIPS-pentacene domains with length in the hundreds of micrometer to millimetre range are formed. The mobility of the fabricated devices are extracted and plotted against the printing speed to evaluate the crystal quality. The top-view of the fabricated TFTs are shown in Fig. 6.12. The mobility against printing speed plot is shown in Fig. 6.13 a). The optimal printing speed at 0.2 mm/s resulted in highest average mobility of above $0.25 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$. The maximum mobility of $0.75 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$ is obtained at a printing speed of 0.3 mm/s, and the top-view of this device is shown in Fig. 6.13 b). The device carrier mobility indeed shows a strong correlation with printing speed. The spin-coated TIPS-pentacene device have mobility of around 0.007 cm^2/Vs ; therefore, a 100x improvement in mobility is achieved with pneumatic printing process.

6.8 C8-BTBT

Another small molecule organic semiconductor material printed using the pneumatic printing process is C8-BTBT. The printing condition was exactly the same as the TIPS-pentacene solution. The C8-BTBT was dissolved in toluene at a concentration of 16 mg/ml. Fig. 6.14 a) - f) shows the cross-polarized optical microscope images demonstrating the thin film crystal structure and thin film texture dependency on the printing speed, varying from 1 mm/s to 0.1 mm/s. The crystal stacking of C8-BTBT is characterized herring-bone arrangement in the intra-layer plane which seems to facilitates isotropic growth of the crystal domain. The crystal domian obtained is much wider than that of TIPS-pentacene. Fig. 6.15 shows the top-view of the fabricated TFTs with printed C8-BTBT thin film as the active layer. The printed C8-BTBT domain can be larger than hundred micrometer wide with millimetre length. The mobility against printing speed plot is shown in Fig. 6.15 a). The optimal printing speed at 0.3 mm/s resulted in highest average mobility of close to $0.4 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$ and maximum mobility of $1.3 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$. The top-view of this device is shown in Fig. 6.15 b). The spin-coated C8-BTBT device have mobility of around 0.13 cm^2/Vs ; therefore, a 10x improvement in mobility is achieved with pneumatic printing process. The printing process needs further optimization, and there is potential for isotropic conduction in the active layer.

6.9 Conclusion

Printing organic semiconductors is a promising approach to achieve low-cost fabrication of large area flexible electronics. The ability to rapidly pattern and deposit

multiple materials and control the thin-film morphology are significant challenges facing industrial scale production. The morphology of the printed organic semiconductor thin film is strongly dependent on the printing process and its parameter. We demonstrated a novel pneumatic nozzle printing approach to control the both the seeding and crystallization of organic thin-films and deposit multiple materials on the same substrate. Pneumatic printing uses capillary action between the nozzle and substrate combined with control of air pressure to dispense the solution from a dispense tip with a reservoir. We achieved seeding by applying differential pressure before the linear translation of the substrate. We can control the orientation and size of the crystals by tuning the printing direction, speed, and the temperature of the substrate. We demonstrate the dependence of the mobility of printed thin film 6,13-bis(triisopropylsilylethynyl) pentacene [TIPS-pentacene] and C8-BTBT on printing conditions; formation of well-ordered crystals occurs at an optimal head translation speed. A maximum mobility of $0.75 \text{ cm}^2/(\text{Vs})$ is achieved with 0.3 mm/sprinting speed and $1.3 \text{ cm}^2/(\text{Vs})$ with 0.3 mm/s printing speed at 50 °C for TIPSpentacene and C8-BTBT respectively. When compared to the spin coated method, pneumatically printed TFTs exhibit 100x and 10x improvements in mobility for TIPSpentacene and C8-BTBT respectively. Pneumatic printing technique can be an attractive route to industrial scale large area flexible electronics fabrication.



Figure 6.2: Printing process of TIPS-pentacene. **a**). An appropriate level of vacuum is applied to the reservoir to both keep the solution from dripping out, and to suspend the meniscus. **b**) A forward pressure is then applied for a short period of time, typically 10 - 20 ms, to contact the meniscus to the substrate surface. At this moment the capillary force keeps the meniscus attach to the surface even after applying the forward pressure and same level of vacuum is applied as before. **c**) The nozzle starts the printing with defined direction with defined printing speed, and the solution is drawn out of the nozzle via capillary action. **d**)Once the desired printing is done, the nozzle is raised to a height greater than the printing height, h, to separate the meniscus contact with the substrate.



Figure 6.3: AFM image of the SAM layer. a) Good quality SAM layer that has surface roughness of 1.6 nm which is close to that of the substrate. b) Poor quality SAM laye with surface roughness several times larger at 6.74 nm.



Figure 6.4: AFM image of the printed TIPS-pentacene on top a poor quality PTS SAM layer. The crystal quality is poor with rough edges and uneven surface. The thickness of the film is about 76 nm.



Figure 6.5: AFM image of the printed TIPS-pentacene on top a good quality PTS SAM layer. The crystal quality is much better with sharp edge and smooth surface. The thickness of the crystal is about 190 nm.



Figure 6.6: IV characteristic of the fabricated TFT. a) Output of TFT with poor quality SAM with lower current than expected. b) Output of the TFT with good quality SAM with much higher current level and smoother curve.



Figure 6.7: Crystal structure dependency on substrate temperature. At 40 °C, the supersaturated regime is not established as the boiling point of toluene is 120 °C. Therefore, the crystallization occurs after the drawing is completed. This similar to drop-casted method, and spherulitic crystal structures are formed. At 70 °C, the supersaturation regime and precipitation occur faster than the printing speed; therefore, discontinuous wave-front crystal structures are formed. It turns out that 50 °C is the optimal printing speed at which the supersaturation and crystallization can occur at a rate that matches our printing speed.



Figure 6.8: Crystal structure dependency on solution concentration a) When solution concentration is lower, the decreased nuclei density leads reduced nucleation and seeding. Furthermore, supersaturation regime is more difficult to establish due to higher solvent ratio. Hence, spherulitic crystal structures are formed. b) Polycrystalline crystal structures are formed when saturated solution is used.


Figure 6.9: Exaggerated seeding picture. The nucleation of the seeds are formed due to the differential volume of the contact meniscus.



Figure 6.10: Cross polarized image of the printed TIPS-pentacene crystal. a) The crystal domain at maximum intensity b). The crystal domain extinguished polarized light almost completely when rotated about 45°. The intensity change indicates that the crystal domain formed is well aligned.



Figure 6.11: Cross polarized image of the printed TIPS-pentacene crystal with varying speed. a) - f) Cross-polarized images of pneumatically printed TIPS-pentacene thin films formed from printing speed of 1 mm/s, 0.8 mm/s, 0.6 mm/s, 0.4 mm/s, 0.2 mm/s, and 0.1 mm/s respectively. The red arrow indicates the printing direction.]



Figure 6.12: Cross polarized image of the top-view of the TFT devices with printed TIPS-pentacene film with varying speed. a) - f) Cross-polarized images of pneumatically printed TIPS-pentacene thin films formed from printing speed of 1 mm/s, 0.8 mm/s, 0.6 mm/s, 0.4 mm/s, 0.2 mm/s, and 0.1 mm/s respectively. The red arrow indicates the printing direction.



Figure 6.13: The TIPS-pentacene mobility vs printing speed plot. a) The mobility against printing speed. The optimal printing speed at 0.2 mm/s resulted in highest average mobility of above $0.25 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$. The maximum mobility of $0.75 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$ is obtained at a printing speed of 0.3 mm/s. b) The top-view of the TFT devices with printed TIPS-pentacene film at printing speed of 0.3 mm/s.



Figure 6.14: Cross polarized image of the top-view of the TFT devices with printed C8-BTBT film with varying speed. a) - f) Cross-polarized images of pneumatically printed C8-BTBT thin films formed from printing speed of 1 mm/s, 0.8 mm/s, 0.6 mm/s, 0.4 mm/s, 0.2 mm/s, and 0.1 mm/s respectively. The red arrow indicates the printing direction.



Figure 6.15: The C8-BTBT mobility vs printing speed plot. a) The mobility against printing speed. The optimal printing speed at 0.2 mm/s resulted in highest average mobility of above $0.25 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$. The maximum mobility of $0.75 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$ is obtained at a printing speed of 0.3 mm/s. b) The top-view of the TFT devices with printed C8-BTBT film at printing speed of 0.3 mm/s

Chapter 7

Conclusion

Solution processed circuitries are expected to be the main driving force to achieve low cost, large area, flexible electronics. However, the commercialization of solution processed flexible electronics still face several challenges. The passive components such as capacitors are limited in frequency range and operating voltage. The active components such as transistors suffer from low mobility leading to limited current-carrying capacity. The fabrication process and material choices significantly impacts the electrical performance of the fabricated devices just as in traditional silicon technology. My thesis demonstrated the optimization of the performance of printed capacitors and transistors through investigation of several aspect of the device structure and fabrication process.

The optimization of the printed asymmetric nanoparticle/polymer composite capacitors is achieved through bias condition and electrode material consideration. Thin film metal oxide nanoparticle/polymer composites have enormous potential to achieve printable and solution-deposited high-k dielectrics. The combination of high-k ceramic nanoparticle enables room temperature deposition of high dielectric constant thin film without the need of high temperature co-firing process. The polymer matrix host fills the packing voids left behind by the nanoparticles resulting in higher effective dielectric permittivity as a system and suppresses surface states to reduced dielectric loss. Such composite systems have been employed in a number of flexible electronic applications such as the dielectrics in both capacitors and thin film transistors. One of the most important properties of thin film capacitors is the breakdown field. In a typical capacitor system, the breakdown process leads to catastrophic failure that destroys the capacitor; however, in a nanoparticle/polymer composite system with self-healing property, the point of breakdown is not well-defined. The breakdown of the dielectric or electrodes in the system limits the leakage observed. It is possible, however, to define a voltage/field tolerance. Field tolerance is defined as the highest practical field at which the device stays operational with low failure rate by qualifying the devices with defined leakage current density. The optimization of the field tolerance of $(Ba,Sr)TiO_3(BST)/parylene-C$ composite capacitors is achieved by studying the influence of the electromigration parameter on leakage and field strength through the inherit asymmetrical structure of the fabricated capacitors.

The composite device exhibits a five orders of magnitude improvement in the leakage current under positive bias of the bottom electrode relative to the pure-particle device, and four orders of magnitude improvement when the top electrode is positively biased. The voltage tolerance of the device is also improved and asymmetric (44 V vs. 28 V in bottom and top positive bias, respectively). This study demonstrates the advantage of this class of composite device construction, but also shows that proper application of the device bias in this type of asymmetrical system can yield an additional benefit.

The symmetrical dielectric system is used to investigate the dependence of the field tolerance of nanoparticle/polymer composite capacitors on the electromigration parameter of the electrodes. The field tolerance is suppressed by selecting the polarity used in nanoparticle (Ba,Sr)TiO₃/parylene-C composite film-based capacitors. Metals including gold, silver, copper, chromium, and aluminum with comparable surface conditions were examined as the electrodes. The asymmetric silver, aluminum, gold, copper, and chromium electrode devices show a 64 %, 29 %, 28 %, 17 %, 33 %,

improvement in the effective maximum field tolerance, respectively, when comparing bias polarity. The field at which filament formation is observed shows a clear dependence on the electromigration properties of the electrode material, and demonstrates that use of electromigration resistant metal electrodes offers an additional route to improving the performance of capacitors using this nanoparticle/polymer composite architecture.

In the second part of my thesis, the advantages of the pneumatic printing process are demonstrated. Multiple materials including conductive and semiconductor materials can be deposited using this printing method. Printed source, drain, and gate thin film transistor with drop-casted organic semiconductors are fabricated to employed in an inverter with uniform performance. The minimum spacing of 30 to $45 \ \mu m$ has been demonstrated.

Small molecule organic semiconductors are attracting immense attention as the active material for the large-area flexible electronics due to their solution processability, mechanical flexibility, and potential for high performance. However, the ability to rapidly pattern and deposit multiple materials and control the thin-film morphology are significant challenges facing industrial scale production. The manipulation of the crystal growth combined with induced seeding of the organic semiconductors have been demonstrated with pneumatic printing process to achieve oriented crystal domain with high mobility.

The dependence of the mobility of printed thin film 6,13-bis(triisopropylsilylethynyl) pentacene [TIPS-pentacene] and C8-BTBT on printing conditions is investigated, and the result indicates that the formation of well-ordered crystals occurs at an optimal head translation speed. A maximum mobility of 0.75 cm²/(Vs) is achieved with 0.3 mm/s printing speed and 1.3 cm²/(Vs) with 0.3 mm/s printing speed at 50 °C for TIPS-pentacene and C8-BTBT respectively.

In summary, the main advantages of employing pneumatic printing technique for printing organic semiconductors have been shown in this work. 1) simple setup and process, 2) multi-material layered deposition applicable to wide range of solution viscosity, 3) control over crystal seeding and growth.

The fabrication process and material choices significantly impacts the electrical performance of the fabricated devices. My thesis demonstrated the optimization of the performance of printed capacitors through investigation of bias condition and failure mechanism of the device structure. The optimization of printed organic thin film transistors are achieved through employing pneumatic printing process to enable seeding and aligned crystal domain growth. The optimization techniques explored in this work have great potential for advancing printed electronics.

Chapter 8

List of Contributions

- Shyuan Yang*; Van Tassell*, B.; Le, C.*; Huang, L.; Liu, S.; Chando, P.; Byro, A.; Liu, X.; Gerber, D.L.; Leland, E.S.; Sanders, S.; Kinget, P.R.; Kymissis, I.; Steingart, D.; O'Brien, S., "Metacapacitors: Printed Thin Film, Flexible Capacitors for Power Conversion Applications," Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on , Accepted (*Equal contribution)
- Huang, Weiguo, Kalpana Besar, Yong Zhang, Shyuan Yang, Gregory Wiedman, Yu Liu, Wenmin Guo et al. "A HighCapacitance SaltFree Dielectric for SelfHealable, Printable, and Flexible Organic Field Effect Transistors and Chemical Sensor." Advanced Functional Materials (2015).
- Beck, Jonathan H., Robert A. Barton, Marshall P. Cox, Konstantinos Alexandrou, Nicholas Petrone, Giorgia Olivieri, Shyuan Yang, James Hone, and Ioannis Kymissis. "Clean Graphene Electrodes on Organic Thin-Film Devices via Orthogonal Fluorinated Chemistry." Nano letters 15, no. 4 (2015): 2555-2561.
- Besar, Kalpana, Shyuan Yang, Xin Guo, Weiguo Huang, Ana M. Rule, Patrick N. Breysse, Ioannis J. Kymissis, and Howard E. Katz. "Printable ammonia sensor based on organic field effect transistor." Organic Electronics 15, no. 11

(2014): 3221-3230.

- Kim, Chang-Hyun, Htay Hlaing, Shyuan Yang, Yvan Bonnassieux, Gilles Horowitz, and Ioannis Kymissis. "Impedance spectroscopy on copper phthalocyanine diodes with surface-induced molecular orientation." Organic Electronics 15, no. 8 (2014): 1724-1730.
- Shyuan Yang, Ioannis Kymissis, Eli S. Leland, Shuangyi Liu, and Stephen O'Brien. "Influence of electromigration on the maximum operating field of (Ba, Sr) TiO3/parylene-C composite capacitors." Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B 31, no. 6 (2013): 060603.
- Schuller, Jon A., Sinan Karaveli, Theanne Schiros, Keliang He, Shyuan Yang, Ioannis Kymissis, Jie Shan, and Rashid Zia. "Orientation of luminescent excitons in layered nanomaterials." Nature nanotechnology 8, no. 4 (2013): 271-276.
- Shyuan Yang, Brian R. Tull, Nadia K. Pervez, Limin Huang, Eli S. Leland, Daniel A. Steigart, Stephen O'Brien, and Ioannis Kymissis. "Asymmetric leakage in (Ba, Sr) TiO3 nanoparticle/paryleneC composite capacitors." Journal of Polymer Science Part B: Polymer Physics 51, no. 1 (2013): 35-38.
- Shyuan Yang, Steve Park, Yvan Bonnassieux, and Ioannis Kymissis. "Organic Semiconductor Crystal Growth Manipulation via Pneumatic Printing Technique" Manuscript in preparation.
- 10. Shyuan Yang, Steve Park, Johannes Bintinger, Sejal Jain, and Ioannis Kymissis. "Ultra Low Cost Disposable Sensor platform" Manuscript in preparation.

Part III

Bibliography

Bibliography

- [1] Paul E Burrows, Gordon L Graff, Mark E Gross, Peter M Martin, Ming-Kun Shi, M Hall, E Mast, C Bonham, W Bennett, and Michael B Sullivan. Ultra barrier flexible substrates for flat panel displays. *Displays*, 22(2):65–69, 2001.
- [2] DR Cairns, SP Gorkhali, S Esmailzadeh, J Vedrine, and GP Crawford. Conformable displays based on polymer-dispersed liquid-crystal materials on flexible substrates. *Journal of the Society for Information Display*, 11(2):289–295, 2003.
- [3] Pak Heng Lau, Kuniharu Takei, Chuan Wang, Yeonkyeong Ju, Junseok Kim, Zhibin Yu, Toshitake Takahashi, Gyoujin Cho, and Ali Javey. Fully printed, high performance carbon nanotube thin-film transistors on flexible substrates. Nano letters, 13(8):3864–3869, 2013.
- [4] Takao Someya, Yusaku Kato, Tsuyoshi Sekitani, Shingo Iba, Yoshiaki Noguchi, Yousuke Murase, Hiroshi Kawaguchi, and Takayasu Sakurai. Conformable, flexible, large-area networks of pressure and thermal sensors with organic transistor active matrixes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 102(35):12321–12325, 2005.
- [5] Tsuyoshi Sekitani and Takao Someya. Stretchable, large-area organic electronics. Advanced Materials, 22(20):2228–2246, 2010.

- [6] Hee Taek Yi, Marcia M Payne, John E Anthony, and Vitaly Podzorov. Ultraflexible solution-processed organic field-effect transistors. *Nature communications*, 3:1259, 2012.
- [7] Michael Drack, Ingrid Graz, Tsuyoshi Sekitani, Takao Someya, Martin Kaltenbrunner, and Siegfried Bauer. An imperceptible plastic electronic wrap. Advanced Materials, 27(1):34–40, 2015.
- [8] L. Huang, Z. Jia, I. Kymissis, and S. OBrien. Adv. Fun. Mater., 20:554–560, 2010.
- [9] Z. M. Dang, J. K. Yuan, J. W. Zha, T. Zhou, S. T. Li, and G. H. Hu. Fundamentals, processes and applications of high- permittivity polymer-matrix composites. *Prog. Mater. Sci.*, 57(4):660–723, 2011.
- [10] P. Barber, S. Balasubramanian, Y. Anguchamy, S. Gong, H. J. Ploehn A. Wibowo, H. Gao, and H.-C. Zur Loye. Polymer composite and nanocomposite dielectric materials for pulse power energy storage. *Materials*, 2:1697–1733, 2009.
- [11] T. Schneller, S. Halder, R. Waser, C. Pithan, J. Dornseiffer, Y. Shiratori, L. Houben, N. Vyshnavi, and S. B. Majumder. Nanocomposite thin films for miniaturized multi-layer ceramic capacitors prepared from barium titanate nanoparticle based hybrid solutions. J. Mater. Chem., 21:7953–7965, 2011.
- [12] Chikahiko Mitsui, Junshi Soeda, Kazumoto Miwa, Hayato Tsuji, Jun Takeya, and Eiichi Nakamura. Naphtho[2,1-b:6,5-b]difuran: A versatile motif available for solution-processed single-crystal organic field-effect transistors with high hole mobility. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 134(12):5448–5451, 2012. PMID: 22413837.
- [13] Hctor A. Becerril, Mark E. Roberts, Zihong Liu, Jason Locklin, and Zhenan Bao. High-performance organic thin-film transistors through solution-sheared

deposition of small-molecule organic semiconductors. *Advanced Materials*, 20(13):2588–2594, 2008.

- [14] Vikram C. Sundar, Jana Zaumseil, Vitaly Podzorov, Etienne Menard, Robert L. Willett, Takao Someya, Michael E. Gershenson, and John A. Rogers. Elastomeric transistor stamps: Reversible probing of charge transport in organic crystals. *Science*, 303(5664):1644–1646, 2004.
- [15] Gaurav Giri, Steve Park, Michael Vosgueritchian, Max Marcel Shulaker, and Zhenan Bao. High-mobility, aligned crystalline domains of tips-pentacene with metastable polymorphs through lateral confinement of crystal growth. Advanced Materials, 26(3):487–493, 2014.
- [16] Ying Diao, Benjamin CK Tee, Gaurav Giri, Jie Xu, Do Hwan Kim, Hector A Becerril, Randall M Stoltenberg, Tae Hoon Lee, Gi Xue, Stefan CB Mannsfeld, et al. Solution coating of large-area organic semiconductor thin films with aligned single-crystalline domains. *Nature materials*, 12(7):665–671, 2013.
- [17] Gaurav Giri, Eric Verploegen, Stefan CB Mannsfeld, Sule Atahan-Evrenk, Do Hwan Kim, Sang Yoon Lee, Hector A Becerril, Alán Aspuru-Guzik, Michael F Toney, and Zhenan Bao. Tuning charge transport in solution-sheared organic semiconductors using lattice strain. *Nature*, 480(7378):504–508, 2011.
- [18] RZ Rogowski and AA Darhuber. Crystal growth near moving contact lines on homogeneous and chemically patterned surfaces. *Langmuir*, 26(13):11485– 11493, 2010.
- [19] Hanying Li, Benjamin C-K. Tee, Judy J. Cha, Yi Cui, Jong Won Chung, Sang Yoon Lee, and Zhenan Bao. High-mobility field-effect transistors from large-area solution-grown aligned c60 single crystals. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 134(5):2760–2765, 2012. PMID: 22239604.

- [20] Hiromi Minemawari, Toshikazu Yamada, Hiroyuki Matsui, Junya Tsutsumi, Simon Haas, Ryosuke Chiba, Reiji Kumai, and Tatsuo Hasegawa. Inkjet printing of single-crystal films. *Nature*, 475(7356):364–367, 2011.
- [21] Rongjin Li, Lang Jiang, Qing Meng, Jianhua Gao, Hongxiang Li, Qingxin Tang, Meng He, Wenping Hu, Yunqi Liu, and Daoben Zhu. Micrometer-sized organic single crystals, anisotropic transport, and field-effect transistors of a fused-ring thienoacene. Advanced Materials, 21(44):4492–4495, 2009.
- [22] Christoph W. Sele, B. K. Charlotte Kjellander, Bjoern Niesen, Martin J. Thornton, J. Bas P. H. van der Putten, Kris Myny, Harry J. Wondergem, Armin Moser, Roland Resel, Albert J. J. M. van Breemen, Nick van Aerle, Paul Heremans, John E. Anthony, and Gerwin H. Gelinck. Controlled deposition of highly ordered soluble acene thin films: Effect of morphology and crystal orientation on transistor performance. *Advanced Materials*, 21(48):4926–4931, 2009.
- [23] W. Pisula, A. Menon, M. Stepputat, I. Lieberwirth, U. Kolb, A. Tracz, H. Sirringhaus, T. Pakula, and K. Mllen. A zone-casting technique for device fabrication of field-effect transistors based on discotic hexa-peri-hexabenzocoronene. *Advanced Materials*, 17(6):684–689, 2005.
- [24] Yongbo Yuan, Gaurav Giri, Alexander L Ayzner, Arjan P Zoombelt, Stefan CB Mannsfeld, Jihua Chen, Dennis Nordlund, Michael F Toney, Jinsong Huang, and Zhenan Bao. Ultra-high mobility transparent organic thin film transistors grown by an off-centre spin-coating method. *Nature communications*, 5, 2014.
- [25] Atsushi Nishino. Capacitors: operating principles, current market and technical trends. Journal of power sources, 60(2):137–147, 1996.
- [26] D.E. Kotecki, J.D. Baniecki, H. Shen, R.B. Laibowitz, K.L. Saenger, J.J. Lian, T.M. Shaw, S.D. Athavale, C. Cabral, P.R. Duncombe, M. Gutsche, G. Kunkel, Y.-J. Park, Y.-Y. Wang, and R. Wise. (ba,sr)tio3 dielectrics for future stacked-

capacitor dram. *IBM Journal of Research and Development*, 43(3):367–382, May 1999.

- [27] R.N. Das and V.R. Markovich. Nanomaterials for electronic packaging: Toward extreme miniaturization [nanopackaging]. Nanotechnology Magazine, IEEE, 4(4):18–26, Dec 2010.
- [28] Junjun Li, Jason Claude, Luis Enrique Norena-Franco, Sang Il Seok, and Qing Wang. Electrical energy storage in ferroelectric polymer nanocomposites containing surface-functionalized batio3 nanoparticles. *Chemistry of Materials*, 20(20):6304–6306, 2008.
- [29] M. Zirkl, A. Haase, A. Fian, H. Schn, C. Sommer, G. Jakopic, G. Leising, B. Stadlober, I. Graz, N. Gaar, R. Schwdiauer, S. Bauer-Gogonea, and S. Bauer. Low-voltage organic thin-film transistors with high-k nanocomposite gate dielectrics for flexible electronics and optothermal sensors. *Advanced Materials*, 19(17):2241–2245, 2007.
- [30] Jon Ihlefeld, Brian Laughlin, Alisa Hunt-Lowery, William Borland, Angus Kingon, and Jon-Paul Maria. Copper compatible barium titanate thin films for embedded passives. *Journal of Electroceramics*, 14(2):95–102, 2005.
- [31] Limin Huang, Shuangyi Liu, Barry J Van Tassell, Xiaohua Liu, Andrew Byro, Henan Zhang, Eli S Leland, Daniel L Akins, Daniel A Steingart, Jackie Li, et al. Structure and performance of dielectric films based on self-assembled nanocrystals with a high dielectric constant. *Nanotechnology*, 24(41):415602, 2013.
- [32] Christos D Dimitrakopoulos, Ioannis Kymissis, Sampath Purushothaman, Deborah A Neumayer, Peter R Duncombe, and Robert B Laibowitz. Low-voltage, high-mobility pentacene transistors with solution-processed high dielectric constant insulators. Advanced Materials, 11(16):1372–1375, 1999.

- [33] YongWoo Choi, Il-Doo Kim, Harry L Tuller, Akintunde Akinwande, et al. Lowvoltage organic transistors and depletion-load inverters with high-k pyrochlore bzn gate dielectric on polymer substrate. *Electron Devices, IEEE Transactions* on, 52(12):2819–2824, 2005.
- [34] Jiyoul Lee, JH Kim, and Seongil Im. Pentacene thin-film transistors with al2o3+ x gate dielectric films deposited on indium-tin-oxide glass. Applied physics letters, 83(13):2689–2691, 2003.
- [35] Barbara Stadlober, Martin Zirkl, Michael Beutl, Günther Leising, Simona Bauer-Gogonea, and Siegfried Bauer. High-mobility pentacene organic fieldeffect transistors with a high-dielectric-constant fluorinated polymer film gate dielectric. Applied Physics Letters, 86(24):242902, 2005.
- [36] Tomoaki Onoue, Ichiro Nakamura, Yukio Sakabe, Takeshi Yasuda, and Tetsuo Tsutsui. Low-operating-voltage organic field-effect transistors with polyp-xylylene/high-k polymer bilayer gate dielectric. Japanese journal of applied physics, 45(8L):L770, 2006.
- [37] Limin Huang, Zhuoying Chen, James D Wilson, Sarbajit Banerjee, Richard D Robinson, Irving P Herman, Robert Laibowitz, and Stephen OBrien. Barium titanate nanocrystals and nanocrystal thin films: Synthesis, ferroelectricity, and dielectric properties. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 100(3):034316, 2006.
- [38] Stephen O'Brien, Louis Brus, and Christopher B Murray. Synthesis of monodisperse nanoparticles of barium titanate: toward a generalized strategy of oxide nanoparticle synthesis. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 123(48):12085–12086, 2001.
- [39] Stephen O'brien, Limin Huang, Zhuoying Chen, Ioannis Kymissis, and Zhang Jia. Metal oxide nanocrystals: preparation and uses, September 24 2009. US Patent App. 12/566,135.

- [40] C K₋ Chiang, CR Fincher Jr, YW Park, AJ Heeger, H Shirakawa, EJ Louis, SC Gau, and Alan G MacDiarmid. Electrical conductivity in doped polyacetylene. *Physical Review Letters*, 39(17):1098, 1977.
- [41] Ioannis Kymissis. Organic Field Effect Transistors: Theory, Fabrication and Characterization. Springer Science & Business Media, 2008.
- [42] John E Anthony. Functionalized acenes and heteroacenes for organic electronics. Chemical Reviews, 106(12):5028–5048, 2006.
- [43] Charles W Scherr. Free-electron network model for conjugated systems. ii. numerical calculations. The Journal of Chemical Physics, 21(9):1582–1596, 1953.
- [44] M Eremtchenko, R Temirov, D Bauer, JA Schaefer, and FS Tautz. Formation of molecular order on a disordered interface layer: Pentacene/ag (111). *Physical Review B*, 72(11):115430, 2005.
- [45] David J Gundlach, Yen-Yi Lin, TN Jackson, SF Nelson, and DG Schlom. Pentacene organic thin-film transistors-molecular ordering and mobility. *Electron Device Letters*, *IEEE*, 18(3):87–89, 1997.
- [46] Sung Kyu Park, Chung-Chen Kuo, John E Anthony, and Thomas N Jackson. High mobility solution-processed otfts. In *Electron Devices Meeting*, 2005. *IEDM Technical Digest. IEEE International*, pages 4–pp. IEEE, 2005.
- [47] Takafumi Izawa, Eigo Miyazaki, and Kazuo Takimiya. Molecular ordering of high-performance soluble molecular semiconductors and re-evaluation of their field-effect transistor characteristics. Advanced Materials, 20(18):3388–3392, 2008.
- [48] Chuan Liu, Takeo Minari, Xubing Lu, Akichika Kumatani, Kazuo Takimiya, and Kazuhito Tsukagoshi. Solution-processable organic single crystals with

bandlike transport in field-effect transistors. *Advanced Materials*, 23(4):523–526, 2011.

- [49] Junshi Soeda, Yuri Hirose, Masakazu Yamagishi, Akiko Nakao, Takafumi Uemura, Kengo Nakayama, Mayumi Uno, Yasuhiro Nakazawa, Kazuo Takimiya, and Jun Takeya. Solution-crystallized organic field-effect transistors with charge-acceptor layers: High-mobility and low-threshold-voltage operation in air. Advanced materials, 23(29):3309–3314, 2011.
- [50] P. Kim, X. Zhang, B. Domercq, S. C. Jones, P. J. Hotchkiss, S. R. Marder,
 B. Kippelen, and J. W. Perry. Appl. Phys. Lett., 93:013302, 2008.
- [51] S. Ramesh, B. A. Shutzberg, C. Huang, J. Gao, and E. P. Giannelis. *IEEE Tras. Adv. Packag.*, 26:17–24, 2003.
- [52] Y. Rao and C. P. Wong. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 92:2228, 2004.
- [53] R. Schroeder, L. A. Majewski, and M. Grell. Adv. Mater., 17:1535–1539, 2005.
- [54] P.Kim, N. M. Doss, J. P. Tillotson, P. J. Hotchkiss, M. J. Pan, S. R. Marder,
 J. Li, J. P Calame, and J. W. Perry. ACS Nano, 3:2581–2592, 2009.
- [55] J. Li, S. I. Soek, B. Chu, F. Dogan, Q. Zhang, and Q. Wang. Adv. Mater., 21:217–221, 2009.
- [56] R. W. Schwartz. Chem. Mater., 9:2325, 1997.
- [57]] P. Kim, S. C. Jones, P. J. Hotchkiss, J.N. Haddock, B. Kippelen, S. R. Marder, and J. W. Perry. Adv. Mater., 19:1001–1005, 2007.
- [58] R. Popielarz, C. K. Chiang, R. Nozaki, and J. Obrzut. Macromolecules, 34:5910– 5915, 2001.

- [59] Maria Teresa Buscaglia, Massimo Viviani, Vincenzo Buscaglia, Liliana Mitoseriu, Andrea Testino, Paolo Nanni, Zhe Zhao, Mats Nygren, Catalin Harnagea, Daniele Piazza, and Carmen Galassi. High dielectric constant and frozen macroscopic polarization in dense nanocrystalline BaTio₃ ceramics. *Phys. Rev. B*, 73:064114, Feb 2006.
- [60] L. J. Gilbert, T. P. Schuman, and F. Dogan. Ceramic Trans., 179:12, 2006.
- [61] F.T. Chen, C. W. Chu, J. He, Y. Yang, and J. L. Lin. Appl. Phys. Lett., 85:3294, 2004.
- [62] F. A. Yildirim, C. Ucurum, R. R. Schliewe, W. Bauhofer, R. M. Meixner,
 H. Goebel, and W. Krautschneider. *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 90:083501, 2007.
- [63] S. Ogitani, S.A. Bidstrup-Allen, and Paul A. Kohl. Factors influencing the permittivity of polymer/ceramic composites for embedded capacitors. Advanced Packaging, IEEE Transactions on, 23(2):313–322, May 2000.
- [64] K.R. Mikeska and W.R. Cannon. Non-aqueous dispersion properties of pure barium titanate for tape casting. *Colloids and Surfaces*, 29(3):305 – 321, 1988.
- [65] Vishay becomponents. Voltage proof test for metalized film capacitors, 2010. Application note.
- [66] E. W. Cowell III, N. Alimardani, C. C. Knutson, J. F. Conley Jr., D. A. Keszler,
 B. J. Gibbons, and J. F. Wager. Adv. Mater., 23:74–78, 2011.
- [67] N. Alimardani, E. W. Cowell III, J. F. Wager, and J. F. Conley Jr. J. Vac. Sci. Technol. A, 30:1, 2012.
- [68] Y. P. Zhao, G. C. Wang, G. Palasantzas, T. M Lu, and J. Th. M. De Hosson. *Physical Review B*, 60:9157–9164, 1999.

- [69] K.C. Chiang, C. H. Cheng, H. C. Pan, C. N. Hsiao, C. P. Chou, A. Chin, and H. L. Hwang. *IEEE Elec. Dev. Let.*, 28:235, 2007.
- [70] W. M. Tang, M. G. Helander, M. T. Greiner, W. T. Ng, and Z. H. Lu. Electrode effects on the breakdown characteristics of high-k hfo2 metal-insulator-metal capacitors. IEEE EDSSC, 2010.
- [71] M. Lukosius, C. B. Kaynak, C. Wenger, G. Ruhl, and S Rushworth. J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B, 29:01AC01, 2011.
- S. Yang, B. R. Tull, N. K. Pervez, L. Huang, E. S. Leland, D. Steingart,
 S. OBrien, and I. Kymissis. J. Polym. Sci. B, 51:35–38, 2013.
- [73] K. C. Kao. *IEEE Trans. Electr. Insul.*, EI-11:121, 1976.
- [74] D. B. Watson, W. Heyes, K. C. Kao, and H. J. Calder-Wood. *IEEE Trans. Electr. Insul.*, EI-11:1976, 1965.
- [75] D. Liu and K. C. Kao. J. Appl. Phys., 69:2489, 1991.
- [76] S. Fillery, H. Koerner, L. Drummy, E. Dunkerley, M. F. Durstock, D. F. Schmidt, and R. A. Vaia. ACS Appl. Mater. Interface, 4:1388–1396, 2012.
- [77] K. Yu, H. Wang, Y. Zhou, Y. Bai, and Y. Niu. J. Appl. Phys., 113:034105, 2013.
- [78] T. Y Tseng M.S. Tsai, S. C. Sun. *IEEE Trans. Elect. Dev.*, 46:1829, 1999.
- [79] C. Wenger, M. Lukosius, H. J. Mssig, G. Ruhl, S. Pasko, and C. Lohe. J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B, 27:286, 2009.
- [80] J. Y. Son and Y.-H. Shin. Direct observation of conducting filaments on resistive switching of nio thin films. *Applied Physics Letters*, 92(22):222106, 2008.
- [81] M. Ieda. *IEEE Trans. Dielectr. Elect. Insul.*, 15:206, 1980.

- [82] Rainer Waser, Tudor Baiatu, and Karl-Heinz Hrdtl. dc electrical degradation of perovskite-type titanates: I, ceramics. *Journal of the American Ceramic Society*, 73(6):1645–1653, 1990.
- [83] Z. Jia, V. W. Lee, Y. J. Hsu, and I. Kymissis. 'laboratory pentacene and parylene evaporation systems for fabricating organic thin film devices. J. Vac. Sci. Technol., B 29, 022401 (2001), 02/28/2011 2011.
- [84] H.C. Ling and A.M. Jackson. Correlation of silver migration with temperaturehumidity-bias (thb) failures in multilayer ceramic capacitors. *Components, Hybrids, and Manufacturing Technology, IEEE Transactions on*, 12(1):130–137, 1989.
- [85] F. Yeung and Y.C. Chan. Electrical failure of multilayer ceramic capacitors caused by high temperature and high humidity environment. In *Electronic Components and Technology Conference*, 1994. Proceedings., 44th, pages 847– 853, 1994.
- [86] J. Jakabovi, J. Kov, M. Weis, D. Hako, R. Srnnek, P. Valent, and R. Resel. Preparation and properties of thin parylene layers as the gate dielectrics for organic field effect transistors. *Microelectronics Journal*, 40(3):595 – 597, 2009.
- [87] Ioannis Kymissis, Akintunde Ibitayo Akinwande, and Vladimir Bulovic. A lithographic process for integrated organic field-effect transistors. J. Display Technol., 1(2):289, Dec 2005.
- [88] H. B. Huntington. pages 303–352. Academic Press, New York, 1974.
- [89] Markus Niederberger, Georg Garnweitner, Nicola Pinna, and Markus Antonietti. Nonaqueous and halide-free route to crystalline batio3, srtio3, and (ba,sr)tio3 nanoparticles via a mechanism involving cc bond formation. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 126(29):9120–9126, 2004. PMID: 15264847.

- [90] ASTM D3359. Standard test methods for measuring adhesion by tape test. 2005.
- [91] H Sirringhaus, T Kawase, RH Friend, T Shimoda, M Inbasekaran, W Wu, and EP Woo. High-resolution inkjet printing of all-polymer transistor circuits. *Science*, 290(5499):2123–2126, 2000.
- [92] Ying Diao, Leo Shaw, Zhenan Bao, and Stefan CB Mannsfeld. Morphology control strategies for solution-processed organic semiconductor thin films. *Energy* & Environmental Science, 7(7):2145–2159, 2014.
- [93] Jean-Luc Brédas, Jean Philippe Calbert, DA da Silva Filho, and Jérôme Cornil. Organic semiconductors: A theoretical characterization of the basic parameters governing charge transport. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99(9):5804–5809, 2002.
- [94] Alessandro Troisi. Charge transport in high mobility molecular semiconductors: classical models and new theories. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 40(5):2347–2358, 2011.
- [95] Gemma C Solomon, Carmen Herrmann, Josh Vura-Weis, Michael R Wasielewski, and Mark A Ratner. The chameleonic nature of electron transport through π-stacked systems. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 132(23):7887–7889, 2010.
- [96] Ying Diao, Allan S Myerson, T Alan Hatton, and Bernhardt L Trout. Surface design for controlled crystallization: The role of surface chemistry and nanoscale pores in heterogeneous nucleation. *Langmuir*, 27(9):5324–5334, 2011.
- [97] RL Headrick, S Wo, F Sansoz, and JE Anthony. Anisotropic mobility in large grain size solution processed organic semiconductor thin films. *Applied Physics Letters*, 92(6):63302–63302, 2008.

- [98] Songtao Wo, Randall L Headrick, and John E Anthony. Fabrication and characterization of controllable grain boundary arrays in solution-processed small molecule organic semiconductor films. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 111(7):073716, 2012.
- [99] Hector A Becerril, Mark E Roberts, Zihong Liu, Jason Locklin, and Zhenan Bao. High-performance organic thin-film transistors through solution-sheared deposition of small-molecule organic semiconductors. Advanced Materials, 20(13):2588–2594, 2008.
- [100] Zihong Liu, H.A. Becerril, Mark E. Roberts, Yoshio Nishi, and Zhenan Bao. Experimental study and statistical analysis of solution-shearing processed organic transistors based on an asymmetric small-molecule semiconductor. *Electron Devices, IEEE Transactions on*, 56(2):176–185, Feb 2009.